PALLADIAN LAND DEVELOPMENT INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014

1.

Corporate Information
Palladian Land Development Inc. (“the Company”), a corporation duly organized and existing under
the laws of the Republic of the Philippines, was incorporated and registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on June 21, 1989, primarily to acquire by purchase, lease, donation or
otherwise, and to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, develop
and hold for investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, whether improve, manage or otherwise
dispose of buildings, houses, apartments and other structures of whatever kind, together with their
appurtenances.
The company’s registered office address is 2223 Marbella Bldg. Roxas Blvd. Pasay City.
The Financial statements were authorized for issue and approved by the Company’s board of directors
and March 28, 2016.

2.

Basis of Preparation and Presentation

Basis of Financial Statement Preparation and Presentation

The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL), available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) and investment properties
that have been measured at fair values.
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Company’s functional currency.
All values represent absolute amounts except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance

The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
Council.
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied for all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid
investments readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
position of the Group when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initial Recognition

All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for financial
assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial instruments includes
transaction costs.
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Determination of Fair Value

The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on their quoted
market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is
determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar instruments for which market
observable prices exists.
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation technique,
the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.

Classification of Financial Instruments

The Group classifies financial assets into the following categories, (i) At fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL), (ii) Available-for-sale, (iii) Held-to-maturity and (iv) Loans and receivable. The Company
classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or liabilities incurred
and whether they are quoted in an active market. Management determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at
every reporting date.
(i)

Financial Assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as a FVPL where the financial asset is either held-for-trading or it is
designated as FVPL.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
•
•
•

It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
It is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Company manages
together and has recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVPL
upon initial recognition if:
•
•
•

The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on a
different basis; or
The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.
It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives.

Financial assets at FVPL are stated at fair value, any resulting gain or loss is recognized in
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in Note 6.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no financial assets under this category.
(ii) Available-for-sale (AFS)
AFS are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated on this category or noclassified
in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS assets are carried at fair
value in the consolidated statements of financial position. Changes in the fair value are recognized
directly in equity accounted as “Unrealized gain on available-for-sale financial assets”. Where the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in equity is included in statement of income.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no financial assets under this category.
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(iii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Company provides money, goods
or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. Loans and
receivables are carried at cost or amortized cost in the statements of financial position.
Amortization is determined using the effective interest method less any impairment losses.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Included under this category are the company’s cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables which are all measured at amortized cost.

(iv)

Held-to-maturity (HTM)
HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities wherein the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
After initial measurement, HTM assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment in value. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in statements of income.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 there are no financial assets under this category.

(v)

Other Financial Liabilities
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as at FVPL are
classified as other financial liabilities where the substance of the contractual arrangement results
in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the
holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. The components of issued
financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for
separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after deducting from
the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability
component on the date of issue.
After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Any effects of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in the
statements of comprehensive income.
Included under this category are accounts payable and accrued expenses, bank loans, deposits
and due to related parties.

Reclassification of Financial Assets

A financial asset is reclassified out of the FVPL category when the following conditions are met
(i) the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; and (ii) there is a rare situation.
A financial asset that is reclassified out of the FVPL category is reclassified at its fair value on the
date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already recognized in the consolidated statements of
income is not reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification
becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable.
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Impairment
Financial Assets

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

(i) Assets carried at amortized cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-tomaturity investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The amount of the loss is recognized in the profit and loss accounts.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss accounts, to
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the
reversal date.

(ii) Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that
is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity
instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are
not reversed in subsequent periods.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are subject to impairment review at each end of the
reporting period. Impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence such as
significant financial difficulty of the issuer/obligor, significant or prolonged decline in market
prices and adverse economic indicators that the recoverable amount of an asset is below its
carrying amount.

Non-Financial Assets

The Company’s investment properties, property and equipment, investment in associates and
intangible asset are subject to impairment testing. All other individual assets’ or cash generating
units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less cost to sell and value in use, based on an internal
discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in the
cash generating unit.
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the
recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.
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Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial Assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial
assets) is derecognized where:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party.
• the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a)
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred the control of the asset.
Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the
extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be
required to repay.

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in profit or loss.

Real Estate Inventories

Real estate inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost
includes the value of land plus expenditures necessary to complete the housing units. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less cost to
complete and sell the units. NRV is determined in a manner provided in Note 5.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, real estate inventories are carried at cost.

Other Current Assets

Other current assets include excess of value added tax (VAT) input over VAT output, tax credits
which represent the accumulated creditable withholding tax for current year and prior year’s
excess credit and security deposits. Other current assets are carried at original amounts.

Investment Properties

Investment properties consist of properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both and that is not occupied by the Company.
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific asset. If this information is not available, the Company uses alternative valuation methods
such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These valuations
are reviewed annually by the Company. Investment property that is being redeveloped for
continuing use as investment property or for which the market has become less active continues
to be measured at fair value.
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of, or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from service and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in the year of retirement or
disposal.
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Investment in Associates

The investments in its associates if any, are accounted for using the equity method. An associate
is an entity in which a company has significant influence. Under the equity method, the
investments in associates is initially recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognized in the investor’s
profit or loss. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the
investment.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the equity method is discontinued and the
investment is accounted in accordance with PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in
value. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to working condition for its intended use. Expenditures for additions, improvements and
renewals are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as
incurred. When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, their cost and related
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting
gain or loss is reflected in income for the period.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
No. of years
Office furniture and fixtures
10
Leasehold improvements
3-13 or lease term whichever is shorter
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
The residual values and estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the
item is derecognized.

Intangible Asset

The Company’s portal and enterprise system is carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end
of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis.
Amortization is computed based on the aggregate predicted life of 15-20 years from the date of
launch.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payables are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied
and have been invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier. Accounts payables are non-interest
bearing and are stated at their original invoice amount since the effect of discounting is
immaterial.
Accruals are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied but have
not been paid, invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier, including amounts due to employees.
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Bank Loans

Bank loans are measured at their nominal values and subsequently recognized at amortized costs
less payments.

Deposits

Deposits represent security deposits from clients and reservation fees from real estate buyers. The
same will be applied to contract price when the buyer committed to purchase the unit. Reservation
fees are non refundable should the buyer decided not to go through with the acquisition of the
property.

Payable to Related Parties

Payable to related parties are non-interest bearing borrowings. These are measured at their
original amounts and have no fixed repayment period.

Equity

Share capital is determined using the par value of shares that have been issued and fully paid.
Additional paid-in capital includes any premiums received on the initial issuance of share capital.
Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from additional paid-in
capital, net of any related income tax benefits.
Unrealized gain on investment property represents appraisal increase on revaluation of certain
investment property.
Retained earnings include all current and prior period results of operations as disclosed in the
statements of comprehensive income.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income, if any is recognized as part of total comprehensive income, outside of
profit or loss, when they arise. Comprehensive income may represent some gains and losses
arising on translating the financial statements of a foreign corporation, some actuarial gains and
losses, and some changes in fair values of hedging instruments.
The Company has no comprehensive income for the periods ending December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.

Revenue and Cost Recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.
(i) Interest – interest income from bank deposits is recognized as interest accrues taking into
account the effective yield on the related asset.
(ii) Profit from assets sold or exchanged – recognized when the title to the asset is transferred to
the buyer or if the collectability is reasonably assured. If collectability is not reasonably
assured, revenue is recognized only to the extent cash is received.
(iii) Rental from Operating Leases - properties leased out under operating leases are included in
investment property in the statement of financial position. Lease income is recognized over
the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.
(iv) Sales of services – revenue are recognized upon rendering of services or completion of
services made.
(v) Dividends - dividends are recognized in the period in which they are declared.
(vi) Fair value gains on investment properties-
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Cost and expenses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income upon utilization of
the assets or services or at the date they are incurred. Interest expense is reported on accrual
basis.
Service charges, fees and penalties are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together
with related direct costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the
loan.

Retirement Benefit Cost

The Company accrues retirement expense based on the provision of the Retirement Pay Law (R.A.
7641).
The Company’s provision for retirement benefit is equivalent to one (1) month plan salary for
every year of credited service plus 13th month pay and unused vacation leave and sick leaves.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are generally expense as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalization of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and
expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Income Taxes

Current tax liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authority. The
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that have been enacted or
substantially enacted at the end of reporting period.
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at the
end of reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
Under the balance sheet liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are
recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all
deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax
credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deferred tax asset is to be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in
the statement of comprehensive income. Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that
relate to a change in value of assets or liabilities that is charged directly to equity are charged or
credited directly to equity.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations

Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The
financial statements of the Parent and subsidiaries are presented in Philippine Peso, the Group’s
functional and presentation currency.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates
prevailing at the time of transaction. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from settlement
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of such transaction and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present obligation will probably lead to an outflow of economic
resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still
be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment
that has resulted from past events, for example legal disputes for onerous contract.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation,
based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, including the
risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Any reimbursement expected to be
received in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain, as
a separate asset at an amount not exceeding the balance of the related provision. Where there
are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligation as a whole. In addition, long term provisions are
discounted at their present values, where time value of money is material.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They are
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Earnings (Loss) per share are determined by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the fiscal year.

Related Party Transactions and Relationships

Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control directly or indirectly
through one or more of the intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between
and/or among the reporting entity and its key management personnel, directors or its
shareholders. Transactions between related parties are accounted for at arm’s length prices or on
terms similar to those offered to non-related entities in an economically comparable market.
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of
the relationship and not merely the legal form.

Events after the Reporting Period

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the end
of reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when
material.
4. Changes in Accounting Standards

New Accounting Standards and Amendments to Existing Standards Effective as of January 1, 2015
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for
the adoption of the following amendments to PFRS effective beginning January 1, 2014. The
adoption however did not result to any material changes in the financial statements.
Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
PAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when
accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they should be
attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the
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amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is
permitted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which
the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service. This
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1,2014. The amendment
does not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRS (2010 to 2012 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010 to 2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. These are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after July 1, 2014. Except as otherwise stated, the amendments do not have a significant impact
on the financial statements.

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition

This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of
performance and service conditions which are vesting conditions, including:
A performance condition must contain a service condition
A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of
another entity in the same group
A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition
If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting
period, the service condition is not satisfied.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business

Combination
The amendment is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after July 1,2014. It clarifies that a contingent consideration that is not classified as equity
is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not it falls within the
scope of PAS 39. This amendment is not relevant to the Company.

PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the Total
of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets The amendments are applied
retrospectively and clarify that:
An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation
criteria in the standard, including a brief description of operating segments that have been
aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to assess
whether the segments are ‘similar’.
The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required
disclosure for segment liabilities.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of
Accumulated Depreciation, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets: Revaluation Method - Proportionate

Restatement of Accumulated Amortization
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset may
be revalued by reference to the observable data on either the gross or the net carrying amount.
In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortization is the difference between the gross and
carrying amounts of the asset.

PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity, which is an
entity that provides key management personnel services, is a related party subject to the related
party disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the
expenses incurred for management services. The amendments affect disclosures only and have
no impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRS (2011 to 2013 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011 to 2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. These are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2015. Except as otherwise stated, the amendments have no significant impact on
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the financial statements.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies the following regarding the scope
exceptions within PFRS 3:
Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.
This scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can
be applied not only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within
the scope of PAS 39.

PAS 40, Investment Property
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, and not the description of
ancillary services in PAS 40, is used to determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset or
business combination. The description of ancillary services in PAS 40 only differentiates between
investment property and owner- occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment).
New Accounting Standard, Amendments to Existing Standards and Interpretations Effective
Subsequent to December 31, 2015

Standards issued but not yet effective up to date of issuance of the Company’s financial
statements are listed below. The listing consists of standards and interpretations issued, which the
Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt
these standards when they become effective. The Company does not expect the adoption of these
new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its financial
statements.
Effective 2016
Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative The
amendments include narrow-focus improvements in five areas; namely, materiality, disaggregation
and subtotals, notes structure, disclosure of accounting policies and presentation of items of other
comprehensive income arising from equity accounted investments. The amendments are effective
on or after January 1,2016. The amendment will not have any significant impact on the Company’s
financial position or performance.
Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization The amendments clarify the
principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are
generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited
circumstances to amortize intangibleassets. The amendments are effective prospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The
amendment will not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
performance.

Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of
bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After initial
recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity)
and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity). The amendments also
require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of PAS 41 measured at
fair value less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants, PAS 20, Accounting for
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, will apply. The amendments are
retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early
adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Company as
the Company does not have any bearer plants.
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Amendments to PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already
applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will
have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of PFRS electing to use the
equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required to apply this method from
the date of transition to PFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1,2016, with early adoption permitted. The amendment will not have any significant
impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities:

Applying the Consolidation Exception.

The amendments address certain issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities
exception under PFRS 10. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1,2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments will not have any impact on
the Company’s financial statements.

Amendments to PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations
The amendments to PFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an
interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business must
apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The amendments also
clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a
scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when
the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the
same ultimate controlling party.
The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The
amendment will not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
performance.

PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts

PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rateregulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRS. PFRS 14 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The Standard will not have any significant impact on the
Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1,2016 and are not expected to have a material impact to the Company’s
financial statements. They include:

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods of
Disposal
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale
to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be a new
plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption
of the application of the requirements in PFRs 5. The amendment also clarifies that changing the
disposal method does not change the date of classification.
PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts

PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred
asset that is derecognized in its entirety. The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that
includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess the
nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the
disclosures are required. The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which
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servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be done retrospectively.
However, comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before
the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments.

PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements

This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report
unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual
report.

PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate

This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate
bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the
country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate
bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used.

PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim Financial
Report’

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must
either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the
interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial
report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report).
Effective 2018

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Hedge Accounting and Amendments to PFRS 9, PFRS 7 and PAS
39
PFRS 9 (2013 version) already includes the third phase of the project to replace PAS 39 which
pertains to hedge accounting. This version of PFRS 9 replaces the rules-based hedge accounting
model of PAS 39 with a more principles-based approach. Changes include replacing the rulesbased hedge effectiveness test with an objectives-based test that focuses on the economic
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, and the effect of credit risk on
that economic relationship; allowing risk components to be designated as the hedged item, not
only for financial items but also for non-financial items, provided that the risk component is
separately identifiable and reliably measurable; and allowing the time value of an option, the
forward element of a forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread to be excluded from
the designation of a derivative instrument as the hedging instrument and accounted for as costs of
hedging. PFRS 9 also requires more extensive disclosures for hedge accounting. PFRS 9 (2013
version) has no mandatory effective date. The mandatory effective date of January 1,2018 was
eventually set when the final version of PFRS 9 was adopted by the FRSC. The adoption of the
final version of PFRS 9, however, is still for approval by BOA.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.
The adoption of the third phase of the project is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the final version of PFRS 9 was issued. PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial
instruments project and replaces PAS 39 and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge
accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with
early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is
not compulsory. Early application of previous versions of PFRS 9 is permitted if the date of initial
application is before February 1, 2015.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.
The adoption of the other phases of the project is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.
The following new standard issued by the IASB has not yet been adopted by the FRSC.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that
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reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to
measuring and recognizing revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or modified
retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with
early adoption permitted. This mandatory adoption date was moved to January 1,2018.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard
on the required effective date once adopted locally.
Deferred

PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS 10
and those in PAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized when a
transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss
is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these
assets are housed in a subsidiary.
These amendments are originally effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2016. This mandatory adoption date was later on deferred indefinitely.
5.

Summary of Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments
about varying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Although, these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions, actual results may differ from these estimates.

(i) Judgments

The following judgments were applied which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Determination of functional currency

The Company has determined that its functional currency is the Philippine peso which is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.

Classification of financial assets

In classifying its financial assets, the Company follows the guidance of PAS 39. In making the
judgment, the Company evaluates its intention, marketability of the instrument and its ability to
hold the investments until maturity.

Estimating net realizable value of real estate inventories

The carrying value of real estate inventories is carried at lower of cost or net realizable value
(NRV). The estimates used in determining NRV is dependent on the recoverability of its cost with
reference to existing market prices, location or the recent market transactions. The amount and
timing of recorded cost for any period would differ if different estimates were used.

Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

The Company determines whether a property qualifies as investment property. If an insignificant
portion is leased out under the operating lease, the property is treated as property and
equipment. If the property is not occupied and is held to earn, it is treated as investment
property.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of services or for administrative
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purposes. If these portions cannot be sold separately as of the end of reporting period, the
property is accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use to
the production or supply of services or for administrative purposes. Judgment is applied in
determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as
investment property. The company considers each property separately in making its judgment.

Operating leases – Company as lessor

The Company has entered into property leases on a portion of its investment property. The Group
has determined that it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of those properties
which are leased out on operating leases.
The Company’s rental income amounted to P8,131,095 in 2014, and P7,991,269 in 2013.

Provision and contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.

(ii) Estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation of uncertainty at
end of reporting period, that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Estimation of allowance for impairment losses on receivables

The Company maintains allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to provide
for potential uncollectible accounts. The level of allowance for impairment losses is evaluated by
management on the basis of factors affecting collectability of the receivables. In addition, a review
of the accounts designed to identify accounts to be provided with allowance, is made on a
continuing basis

Determination of fair value of assets and liabilities

The fair value of assets and liabilities were determined in a manner disclosed in Note 6.

Estimated useful lives of property and equipment

The Company reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property and equipment, based on
the period on which the assets are expected to be available for use. It is possible that future
results of operation could be materially affected by changes in these estimates. A reduction in the
estimated useful lives of property and equipment would increase recorded depreciation and
decrease the related asset account.
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, amounted to
P4.462 million and P5.276 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Estimating fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties and
other contracts. In the absence of such information, the Company determines the amount within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its judgment, the Company considers
information from a variety of sources including:
(i) current prices in an active market for properties of different nature, condition or
location (or subject to different lease or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those
differences;
(ii) recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and
(iii) appraisal of independent qualified appraisers.
On March 2014, a reappraisal was made for part of the Group’s investment properties. The
appraisal resulted into an increment amounting to P674.575 million. The amount was reported as
“Unrealized gain on investment properties” in the statement of comprehensive income, net of
deferred income tax. For lots, raw land and condominium units, the value were arrived at using
the Sales Comparison Approach. This is a comparative approach to value that considers the sales
of similar substitute properties and related market data and establishes a value estimate by
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processes involving comparison, listings and offerings. The value of improvements was determined
under the Cost approach. The approach is based on the reproduction cost of the subject property,
less depreciation, plus the value of the land to which an estimate of entrepreneurial incentive is
commonly added.
Investment properties amounted to P2.2 billion as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Impairment of investment in associates and advances to related parties

The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Several factors are
considered which could trigger that impairment has occurred. Though management believes that
the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the
assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have material adverse
effect on the results of operations.
The net carrying value of Investment in and advances to related parties as of December 31, 2015
and 2014 is as follows:
2015
Gross carrying
amount
Advances to related parties
ATN Holdings, Inc.
Advances Home Concept Dev.
Inc.

6.

2014
Gross carrying
amount

Net carrying
amount

Net carrying
amount

P 18,307,162

P

18,307,162

P

8,537,490

P

8,537,490

758,715
P 19,065,877

P

758,715
19,065,877

P

595,177
9,132,667

P

595,177
9,132,667

Fair Value Measurement
The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair
value is determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar instruments for
which market observable price exists.
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and the fair value
in the consolidated statements of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of
asset.
The Company measures fair value of assets and liabilities using the following fair value hierarchy
that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
Level 1
Included in the Level 1 category are assets and liabilities that are measured in whole or in part by
reference to published quotes in an active market. An asset or liability is regarded as quoted in an
active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Level 2
Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
Level 3
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).
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The table below analyzes assets and liabilities measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is
categorized.
2015
Cash in bank
Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Advances to related parties
Investment properties
Accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Interest bearing liabilites
Payable to related parties
Deposits

2014
Cash in bank
Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Advances to related parties
Investment properties
Accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Interest bearing liabilities
Payable to related parties
Deposits

P

Level 1
4,304,493

Level 2

Level 3
P

231,269
1,339,615
19,065,877
2,207,722,563
(132,386)
(21,259,054)
(33,306,688)
(30,391,270)

P

Level 1
1,926,586

Level 2

Level 3
P

414,839
1,505,133
9,132,667
2,207,722,563
(793,952)
(24,456,807)
(32,350,304)
(20,053,110)

Total
4,304,493
231,269
1,339,615
19,065,877
2,207,722,563
(132,386)
(21,259,054)
(33,306,688)
(30,391,270)

Total
1,926,586
414,839
1,505,133
9,132,667
2,207,722,563
(793,952)
(24,456,807)
(32,350,304)
(20,053,110)

Fair values were determined as follows:
•
•

7.

Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other current assets, deposits and other financial
liabilities – the fair values are approximately the carrying amounts at initial recognition

due to short-term nature.
Investment properties – fair value was based on appraiser’s report. It is estimated using
Sales Comparison Approach, which is based on sales and listings of comparable property
registered within the vicinity that considered factors such as locations, size and shape of
the properties.

Financial Instruments, Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from either the
inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counterparty failing on repayment of a
contractual obligation; or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.
Liquidity risk is a risk due to uncertain liquidity. An institution may suffer liquidity problem when its
credit rating falls. The Group is also exposed to liquidity risk if markets on which it depends on are
subject to loss of liquidity.
The Company manages its liquidity profile to: a) ensure that adequate funding is available at all
times; b) meet commitments as they arise without incurring unnecessary costs; c) be able to
access funding when needed at the least possible cost, and d) maintain an adequate time spread of
financial maturities.
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at December
31, 2015 and 2014 based on contractual undiscounted payments:
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2015
Accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Interest bearing liabilities
Payable to related parties
Deposits

2014
Accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Interest bearing liabilities
Payable to related parties
Deposits

Not later than
one month
P

Later than 1
month & not
later than 1 year

Later than 1
month & not
later than 5 year

132,386

Not later than
one month
P

Later than 1
month & not
later than 3 mos

516,069 P

Total
P

Later than 1
month & not
later than 3 mos

Later than 1
month & not
later than 1 year

21,259,054
33,306,688
30,391,270

132,386
21,259,054
33,306,688
30,391,270

Later than 1
month & not
later than 5 year

Total

277,883

P
24,456,807
32,350,304
20,053,110

793,952
24,456,807
32,350,304
20,053,110

Credit Risk

Credit risk is risk due to uncertainty in a counterparty’s (also called an obligor) ability to meet its
obligation.
Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the
financial assets as shown on the face of the consolidated statements of financial position (or in the
detailed analysis provided in the notes to consolidated financial statements). Credit risk, therefore,
is only disclosed in circumstances where the maximum potential loss differs significantly from the
financial asset’s carrying amount.
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the Company as of December
31, 2015 and 2014. Net maximum exposure is the effect after considering the collaterals and other
credit enhancements.
Gross maximum exposure
2015
2014
Cash in bank
P
4,304,493 P
1,926,586
Accounts receivable
231,269
414,839
Advances to related parties
19,065,877
9,132,667
P
23,601,639 P
11,474,092
Credit quality of the Company’s assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

2015
Cash in bank
Accounts receivable
Advances to related parties

2014
Cash in bank
Accounts receivable
Advances to related parties

Neither past due nor impaired
High
Standard
Grade
grade
P 4,304,493 P
231,269
P 4,304,493 P
231,269

P

P

Past due
but not
impaired
P

P

Neither past due nor impaired
High
Standard
Grade
grade
1,926,586 P
P
414,839
1,926,586.0 P
414,839.0 P

19,065,877
19,065,877

Past due
and
impaired
P

P

Past due
but not
impaired
P
9,132,667
9,132,667.0 P

Total
4,304,493
231,269
19,065,877
P 23,601,639

-

P

-

P

Past due
and
impaired

Total
1,926,586
414,839
9,132,667
P 11,474,092.0

High grade cash in bank are short-term placements placed, invested, or deposited in banks
belonging to the top banks in the Philippines in terms of resources and profitability.
High grade accounts, other than cash and cash equivalents, are accounts considered to be of high
value. The counterparties have a very remote likelihood of default and have consistently exhibited
good paying habits.
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Standard grade accounts are active accounts with propensity of deteriorating to mid-range age
buckets. These accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties generally respond to
credit actions and update their payments accordingly.
The aging analysis of past due accounts which are unimpaired is as follows:
Advances to
related parties
P
6,863,716
12,202,161
P 19,065,877

2015
Past due 31-60 days
Over 120 days

2014
Past due 31-60 days
Over 120 days

P
P

Advances to
related parties
4,931,640
4,201,027
9,132,667

Market Risk

The Company is not exposed to market risk with respects to financial instruments it does not hold
in equity securities.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures primarily with
respect to the Yen and Dollar loans. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
Company’s functional currency. Significant fluctuation in the exchange rates could significantly
affect the Company’s financial position.
The carrying amount of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities at the
reporting date is as follows:

Japanese Yen Loan
US Dollar Loan

2015
Peso
Foreign Currency
Equivalent
Equivalent
P 21,259,053 ¥
54,232,278
3,335,500 $
70,000
P 24,594,553

P

2014
Peso
Foreign Currency
Equivalent
Equivalent
21,333,616 ¥
57,565,074
3,123,190 $
70,000
24,456,806

The table below details the Company’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional
currency of the Company against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rate used in
reporting foreign currency risk is 5% and it represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
period and in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes all of the Company’s foreign
currency denominated liabilities. A positive number below indicates an increase in net income
when the functional currency of the Company strengthens at 5% against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the net income when the balances would be
negative.
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Effect on Income
before taxes

2015
Increase/Decrease in Peso to US Dollar Rate
+5%
-5%

+.16 Million
-.16 Million

Increase/Decrease in Peso to Japanese Yen Rate
+5%
-5%

+1.0 Million
-1.0 Million
Effect on Income
before taxes

2014
Increase/Decrease in Peso to US Dollar Rate
+5%
-5%

+.15 Million
-.16 Million

Increase/Decrease in Peso to Japanese Yen Rate
+5%
-5%

+1.0 Million
-1.0 Million

Interest Rate Risk

The primary source of the Company’s interest rates risk relates to debt instruments. The interest
rates on this liability are disclosed in Note 16.
An estimate of 100 basis points increase or decrease is used in reporting interest rate changes on
fair value of loans and represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible change in
interest rates.

Price Risk

The Company is exposed to property price and property rentals risk and to market price changes
of financial assets through profit or loss.

Capital Management

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity
balance.
The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Company may adjust the dividends paid to shareholders or issue new shares.
The capital structure of the Company consists of issued share capital and additional paid-in capital.
The financial ratio at the year end, which is within the acceptable range of the Company, is as
follows:
Equity
Total assets
Ratio

P

2015
1,574,354,919
2,244,273,780
0.70

P

2014
1,574,132,698
2,233,626,267
0.70

8.

Cash in banks
Cash in banks accounts generally earn interest at rates based on prevailing bank deposit rates.

9.

Accounts Receivable
Total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is 231,269 and P414,839
respectively. These receivables are not subject to interest.
As of December 31, management believes that amounts are fully collectible and no provision for
doubtful accounts is necessary.
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10.

Real Estate Inventories
Real estate inventories consist of residential lots stated at cost amounting to P1,462,500 in 2015
and 2014.
There was no sale of real estate inventory during the year.

11.

Other Current Assets
The composition of this account consist of prepaid taxes amounting to P1,624,708 and
P1,505,133 respectively as of as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Prepaid taxes are portion of rental income withheld by various tenants. The same may be applied
against future income tax liabilities.

12.

Investment Properties
Investment properties consist of land, raw land, condominium units and townhouses, details of
which are broken down as follows:
2015
Cost
Balance at beginning of year
Disposal during the year

P

Unrealized gain on fair value
adjustment of investment properties

P

522,258,101
522,258,101
1,685,464,492
2,207,722,593

2014
P

P

530,547,951
8,289,850
522,258,101
1,685,464,462
2,207,722,563

On March 27, 2014, certain investment properties were re-appraised to properly reflect its fair
market value. The appraisal resulted to an increase in value of investment amounting to P674.575
million. The increase in fair value is included in the statement of comprehensive income, net of
deferred income tax as “Unrealized gain on investment properties”. Fair market value is
determined in a manner described in Note 6.
Rental income on investment properties amounted to P8,332,207 in 2015 and P8,131,095 in 2014.
Certain investment properties were pledge to the bank to secure the Company’s financing
requirements (see Note 16).
13.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of:
2015
Kind of Property
Balance at beginning of year
Balance at end of year

Leasehold
Improvements
P
7,963,628
P
7,963,628

Office Furniture
and Fixtures
P
930,139
P
930,139

Accumulated depreciation and amortizations
Balance at beginning of year
3,729,367
Depreciation for the year
778,711
Balance at end of year
4,508,078
Book value
P
3,455,550

702,421
35,805
738,226
191,913

2014
Kind of Property
Balance at beginning of year
Balance at end of year

P
P

Accumulated depreciation and amortizations
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation for the year
Balance at end of year
Book value
P

Leasehold
Improvements
7,963,628
7,963,628

2,950,656
778,711
3,729,367
4,234,261
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P

P
P

Office Furniture
and Fixtures
930,139
930,139

P

666,616
35,805
702,421
227,718

P
P

Total
8,893,767
8,893,767

P

4,431,788
814,516
5,246,304
3,647,463

P
P

Total
8,893,767
8,893,767

P

3,617,272
814,516
4,431,788
4,461,979

14.

Intangible Asset
Intangible asset represent the web-based portal of a subsidiary for the marketing of its medical
services to local and international clients.
The movement in intangible asset is as follows:
Cost
Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of year
Provisions
Balance at end of year
Net Book Value at end of the year

15.

P

2015
10,000,000

P

2,500,000
500,000
3,000,000
7,000,000

P

2014
10,000,000

P

2,000,000
500,000
2,500,000
7,500,000

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
This account consists of the following:
2015
120,623
11,763
132,386

P

Trade
Others

P

2014
494,339
299,613
793,952

P
P

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities are as follows:
• Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled on a 90-day term;
• Accrued expenses are noninterest-bearing and have an average term of two (2) months;
• Other current liabilities are noninterest-bearing and have a maximum term of six (6) months.
The fair values of accounts payable and accrued expenses have not been disclosed due to their
short duration. Management considers the carrying amounts recognized in the statement of
financial position to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
16.

Interest bearing liabilities
Bank loans pertain to the outstanding balance of dollar and yen loans with Rizal Commercial
Banking Corporation and China Banking Corporation which are covered by promissory notes.
These loans are secured by a mortgage on certain investment property with a fair value of
P100,404,363.
On 2013, the group renewed these bank loans for another 3 years payable up to 2016. Interest is
payable monthly at the rates specified by the bank. Interest on these loans at the end of reporting
period ranges from 2.68% to 2.70% for dollar loan and 3% for yen loan per month.
The outstanding balances of this account as of December 31 are as follows:
P

Yen Loan
USD Loan

P

2015
21,259,053
3,335,500
24,594,553

P
P

2014
21,333,616
3,123,190
24,456,806

Financing charges related to foreign currency loans amounted to P650,232 and P879,540 in 2015
and 2014 respectively.
17.

Deposits
This account consists of the following:
P

Deposit on operating leases
Deposit on contract to sell

P

2015
5,008,827
25,382,444
30,391,271

P
P

2014
4,196,611
15,856,499
20,053,110

Deposit on operating leases is made in compliance with the existing leasing agreement with lessor.
The amount is refundable at the expiration of lease contracts.
Deposit on contract-to-sell is advance payments made by third parties for the purchase of the
company’s investment property discussed in Note 16. The contract to sell provides for a down
payment equivalent to 20.83% and balance is payable in 120 equal monthly payments. Revenue
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on such sale will be recognized when the title to the property is transferred or the collection of the
unpaid balance is reasonably assured.
18.

Equity
Share capital
The company’s authorized, subscribed and paid-up capital consist of:
Authorized – P10 par value
Subscribed and paid-up

2015
No. of shares
20,000,000
20,000,000

Amount
P200,000,000
P200,000,000

2014
No. of shares
20,000,000
20,000,000

Amount
P200,000,000
P200,000,000

Premium on subscribed share capital
The company has no additional premium on share capital subscribed as of December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.
19.

Revenues
This account consist of rental income from investment property of P8.332 million as of December
31, 2015 and P7.131 million as of December 31, 2014.

20.

Direct Costs
This account consist of real estate taxes paid during the year amounting to P922,843 and
P922,388 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively.

21.

Operating expenses
The breakdown of this account is as follows:

22.

2015
1,307,822
1,384,286
1,314,516
1,201,486
755,817
139,930
99,790
82,537
81,242
22,944
22,136
2,443
32,489
6,447,438

P

Communication, dues and utilities
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Depreciation and amortization
Rental
Salaries,wages and other benefits
Contractual services
Provision for retirement
Taxes and licenses
Office supplies
Professional fees
Transportation and travel
Representation and entertainment
Security services
Miscellaneous

P

P

P

2014
1,840,509
1,314,516
1,205,760
1,043,469
380,833
82,702
103,091
522,865
27,455
783,979
79,485
214,441
208,664
7,807,769

Related Party Transactions

Due from associates and affiliated companies
Year-end balances of due from/to related parties are as follows:
Receivable from (Payable to)
ATN Holdings, Inc.
Advanced Home Concept Dev. Corp.
Due to stockholders
Transpacific Broadband Group Int'l. Inc.
Managed Care Phils., Inc.

P

2015

18,307,162 P
8,537,490
758,715
(28,701,323.00)
(32,322,667)
(3,648,981)
(910,483)
(73,538)
-

Payable to related parties
These advances are not subject to interest and have no fixed repayment period.
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2014

23.

Retirement Benefits
The Company provides for estimated retirement benefits costs required to be paid under RA 7641
to qualifying employees. The cost of defined retirement benefits, including those mandated under
RA 7641 should be determined using the accrued benefits valuation method or projected benefit
valuation method. Both methods require an actuarial valuation which the Group has not
undertaken. Management believes, however, that the effect on the financial statements of the
difference between the retirement cost determined under the current method used by the Group
and an acceptable actuarial valuation method is not significant.
The balance of retirement liability account as of December 31, 2015 is P217,936.

24.

Income Taxes
Components of income tax reported in the statements of comprehensive income are as follows:
P

Current
Deferred

P

2015
538,731 P
(445,223)
93,508 P

2014
144,175
202,372,724
202,516,899

The reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax
expense is as follows:
P

Statutory income tax
Tax effect of:
Non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Unrecognized temporary difference
Income subject to final tax
MCIT
Actual provision for income tax

2015
94,719

2014
203,155,208

P

445,223
(1,210)

24,811
(1,225,327)
(202,372,724)
(737)
144,175
144,175

538,731

The component of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows:
2015
Unrealized gain on fair value adjustment
of investment properties
Unrealized loss on foreign exchange
Retirement liability

2014

581,756,695
(415,286)
(65,381)
581,276,028

581,756,695
(35,444)
581,721,251

The Company did not recognize any deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 on net
operating loss carry over (NOLCO) and minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) since it does not
expect to have sufficient profit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized:
25.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Earnings per share is computed by dividing the loss by the weighted average number of common
shares as follows:
Earnings (loss) per share'
P

Earnings (A)
Divided by:
Weighted Average Shares (B)

2015
222,221

P

200,000,000

As of the respective year ends, there are no potentially convertible shares.
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2014
474,667,126
200,000,000

26.

Commitments and contingencies

Operating Lease Commitments

Certain investment properties of the Company are leased out to third parties under the operating
lease agreement. The lease term is for the period of 1 year renewable at the option of both
parties.
27.

Non cash investing and financing activities
Non-cash investing and financing activities that were excluded in the preparation of the
Statements of Cash Flows are as follows:
During the year 2014, an appraisal of the Company’s investment properties resulted to an increase
in the carrying value amounting to P674.6 million (see Note 12).

28.

Other Internal Revenue Matters
In compliance with the requirements se forth by RR 15-2010 hereunder are the information on
taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year:

a.

VAT Output taxes
Gross revenue subject to VAT
Zero rated sales - Peza Accredited

2015
552,148
4,601,231
3,730,976

2014
407,096
4,400,124
3,790,970

b.

VAT input taxes
Amount
Domestic purchased of goods and services

294,342
2,452,853

410,054
3,417,120

c.

Other taxes, licenses and fees
Local
Business permit
Real estate taxes
National
Annual registration
Income tax arrears for 2011

82,037
922,842

103,091
922,388

500

500
170,017

53,589
66,167

48,125
70,650

d.

Withholding taxes
Tax on compensation and benefits
Creditable withholding taxes

Deficiency tax assessments and tax cases
The company has no existing deficiency tax assessments.
Supplementary information required under RR 19-2011
Details of direct costs for income tax purposes as follows:
Real estate tax

922,842

Details of operating expenses for income tax purposes as follows:
Communication, dues and utilities
Depreciation and amortization
Rental
Salaries,wages and other benefits
Interest expense
Contractual services
Taxes and licenses
Office supplies
Professional fees
Transportation and travel
Representation and entertainment
Miscellaneous

P

P
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1,307,822
1,314,516
1,201,486
755,817
650,232
139,930
82,537
81,242
22,944
22,136
2,443
32,489
5,613,594
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ADVANCED HOME CONCEPT DEVELOPMENT CORP.
Notes to Financial Statement
December 31, 2015 and 2014
1.

Corporate Information
Advanced Home Concept Development Corporation (“the Company”), a corporation duly
organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines, was incorporated and
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 14, 1998, primarily to
acquire by purchase, lease, donation or otherwise, and to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide,
sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, develop and hold for investment or otherwise, real estate of all
kinds, whether improve, manage or otherwise dispose of buildings, houses, apartments and other
structures of whatever kind, together with their appurtenances.
The company’s registered office address is 9F Summit One Tower, 530 Shaw Boulevard,
Mandaluyong City.
The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with the
resolution by the Board of Directors (BOD) on March 28, 2016.
The board of directors is still empowered to make revisions on financial statements even after the
date of issue.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a fair value measurement. The
financial statements are presented in Philippine Pesos, which is the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest Philippine peso, except when otherwise
indicated.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
contemplate the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.
Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
Council.

3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
Cash in bank
Cash in bank in current accounts earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates and these are
deposits held at call with banks. Cash equivalents if any may consist of short-term, highly liquid
debt instruments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of
three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Trade Receivable
Trade receivables are stated at their nominal values as reduced by any appropriate allowances for
doubtful accounts. Any allowance for impairment loss and allowance for doubtful accounts are the
estimated amount of probable losses arising from non-collection based on past collection
experience and management’s review of the current status of the long-outstanding receivables.
Any doubtful account expense is to be recognized in the statement of income.
Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the statements of financial position of the
Company when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

-
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Initial Recognition
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for financial
assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial instruments includes
transaction costs.
Determination of Fair Value
The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair
value is determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar instruments for
which market observable prices exists.
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value in
the statements of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.
Classification of Financial Instruments
The Company classifies financial assets into the following categories, (i) At fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), (ii) Available-for-sale, (iii) Held-to-maturity and (iv) Loans and receivable.
The Company classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial
liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or
liabilities incurred and whether they are quoted in an active market. Management determines the
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, reevaluates such designation at every reporting date.
(i)
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at FVPL
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL include financial assets and financial liabilities held
for trading and financial assets and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL.
A financial assets and financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if:
• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
• It is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Company manages
together and has recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
• It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVPL upon
initial recognition if:
• Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistently that would otherwise arise; or
• The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets that is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.
• It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no financial assets under this category.
(ii)

Available-for-sale (AFS)

AFS are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated on this category or not classified
in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS assets are carried at fair
value in the statement of financial position. Changes in the fair value are recognized directly in
equity account as “Revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets”. Where the investment is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is
included in profit or loss for the period.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2015, there are no financial assets under this category.

-
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(iii)
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Company provides money, goods or
services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. After initial measurement,
loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Included under this category is the company’s cash in bank.
(iv)
Held-to-maturity (HTM)
HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities wherein the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
After initial measurement, HTM assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment in value. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate. Any
changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in statements of comprehensive
income.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no financial assets under this category.
(v)
Other Financial Liabilities
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as at FVPL are
classified as other financial liabilities where the substance of the contractual arrangement results
in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder,
or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. The components of issued financial
instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for separately, with the
equity component being assigned the residual amount after deducting from the instrument as a
whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability component on the date of
issue.
After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Any effects of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Included under this category are accounts payable and accrued expenses and long term loans
payable.
Reclassification of Financial Assets
A financial asset is reclassified out of the FVPL category when the following conditions are met (i)
the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;
and (ii) there is a rare situation.
A financial asset that is reclassified out of the FVPL category is reclassified at its fair value on the
date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already recognized in the statement of income is not
reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost
or amortized cost, as applicable.
Impairment
Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
(i) Assets carried at amortized cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-tomaturity investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
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estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The amount of the loss is recognized in the profit and loss accounts.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss accounts, to
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the
reversal date.
(ii) Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that
is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity
instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are
not reversed in subsequent periods.
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are subject to impairment review at each end of the
reporting period. Impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence such as
significant financial difficulty of the issuer/obligor, significant or prolonged decline in market
prices and adverse economic indicators that the recoverable amount of an asset is below its
carrying amount.
Non-Financial Assets
The Company’s property and equipment are subject to impairment testing. All other individual
assets’ or cash generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less cost to sell and value in use, based on an internal discounted
cash flow evaluation. Impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in the cash
generating unit.
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the
recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.
Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial
assets) is derecognized where:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party.
• the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a)
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred the control of the asset.
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Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the
extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be
required to repay.
Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in profit or loss.
Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are measured at amounts paid and subsequently recognized as expense over
which the prepayments apply.
Real Estate Inventory
Real estate inventory are accounted for as current assets. Initially, the lots are measured at cost
including transaction costs
Real estate inventory are derecognized when they have either been disposed of or when
permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected. Any gain and loss on disposal
is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of disposal.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment if any, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization,
and any impairment in value.
The initial cost of property, plant and equipment consists of its purchase price, including any
directly attributable costs in bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditures incurred after the item has been put into operation, such as repairs,
maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally recognized as expense in the period the costs are
incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have improved
the condition of the asset beyond the originally assessed standard of performance, the
expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment. When assets
are sold or retired, their costs and accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses,
if any, are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is
included in the statement of operations of such period
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives except for portal
and enterprise system which is computed based on the aggregate predicted life of 15-20 years
from the date of launch.
The useful life of each of the property, plant and equipment is estimated based on the period over
which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is based on a collective
assessment of industry practice and experience with similar assets.
The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of operations in the year the item is
derecognized.
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Investment properties
Investment properties consist of properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both and that is not occupied by the company.
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific asset. If this information is not available, the Company uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These
valuations are reviewed annually by the Group. Investment property that is being redeveloped for
continuing use as investment property or for which the market has become less active continues
to be measured at fair value.
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of, or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognized in the statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal.
Investment in Associate
An associate if any, is an entity in which the investor has a significant influence and which is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.
Investment in associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting and initially
recognized at cost, and is subsequently adjusted to reflect the investor’s share of the net profit or
loss of the associate.
Accounts Payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payables are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied
and have been invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier. Trade payables are non interest
bearing and are stated at their nominal value.
Accruals are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied but have
not been paid, invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier, including amounts due to employees.
It is necessary to estimate the amount or timing of accruals, however, the uncertainty is generally
much less than for provisions
Long-term loans
Long-term loans if any, are measured at their nominal values and subsequently recognized at
amortized costs less settlement payments.
Equity
Share capital is determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.
Any costs of acquiring Company’s own shares are shown as a deduction from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. When such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, and is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders.
Deficit include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of income.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income, if any are recognized as part of total comprehensive income, outside of
profit or loss, when they arise. Comprehensive income may represent some gains and losses
arising on translating the financial statements of a foreign corporation, some actuarial gains and
losses, and some changes in fair values of hedging instruments.
The Company has no comprehensive income for the periods ending December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.
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Revenue and cost recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.
(i) Interest – interest income from bank deposits is recognized as interest accrues taking into
account the effective yield on the related asset.
(ii) Profit from assets sold or exchanged – recognized when the title to the asset is transferred to
the buyer or if the collectability is reasonably assured. If collectability is not reasonably
assured, revenue is recognized only to the extent cash is received.
(iii) Rental from Operating Leases
Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the
statement of financial position. Lease income is recognized over the term of the lease on a
straight-line basis.
(iv) Dividends - Dividends are recognized in the period in which they are declared.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has no income from operation.
Operating expenses are recognized in the statement of income upon utilization of the service or in
the date they are incurred. Finance costs are reported on an accrual basis.
Income Taxes
Current tax liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authority. The
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that have been enacted or
substantially enacted as at the end of reporting period.
Deferred tax asset is recognized for all temporary differences that are expected to reduce taxable
profit in the future, and for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Deferred tax liability is recognized for all temporary differences that are expected to increase the
taxable profit in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates
and loss substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each end of reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.
Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in
the statements of comprehensive income. Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that
relate to a change in value of asset or liabilities are charged or credited directly to equity.
Employee Benefits
(i)
Retirement Benefit Cost
The Company provides for estimated retirement benefits costs required to be paid under RA 7641
to qualifying employees. The cost of defined retirement benefits, including those mandated ender
RA 7641 is determined using the accrued benefits valuation method or projected benefit valuation
method. Both methods require an actuarial valuation which the Company has not undertaken.
Management believes, however, that the effect on the financial statements of the difference
between the retirement cost determined under the current method used by the Company and an
acceptable actuarial valuation method is not significant.
(ii)
Compensated absences
Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leaves days (including holiday
entitlement) remaining at reporting date. They are included as part of Accounts payable and
accrued expenses account at the undiscounted amount the Company expects to pay as a result of
the unused entitlement.
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are generally expenses as incurred. Borrowing costs, including exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest cost, are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of an qualifying asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being
incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is
recognized.
For income tax reporting purposes, borrowing costs are treated as deductible expense in the year
such are incurred.
Leases
Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the balance
sheet. Lease income is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments if any are recognized as an expense
in the statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. The related
party transactions are recognized based on transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when present obligation will probably lead to an outflow of economic
resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still
be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment
that has resulted from past events, for example legal disputes for onerous contract.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation,
based on the most reliable evidence available at end of reporting period, including the risks and
uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Any reimbursement expected to be received
in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain, as a
separate asset at an amount not exceeding the balance of the related provision. Where there are
a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligation as a whole. In addition, long term provisions are
discounted at their present values, where time value of money is material.
Provisions are reviewed at each end of reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be
measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statement.
Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are
considered contingent asset, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets
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are not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits
is probable.
Events after End of reporting period
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the end
of reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when
material.
Earnings (loss) Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing profit for the period by the weighted average
number of shares issued and outstanding during the year.
4.

Changes in Accounting Standards

New Accounting Standards and Amendments to Existing Standards Effective as of January 1, 2015

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for
the adoption of the following amendments to PFRS effective beginning January 1, 2015. The
adoption however did not result to any material changes in the financial statements.

Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
PAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when
accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they should be
attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the
amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is
permitted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which
the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service. This
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1,2014. The amendment
does not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRS (2010 to 2012 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010 to 2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. These are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after July 1, 2014. Except as otherwise stated, the amendments do not have a significant impact
on the financial statements.

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition
This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of
performance and service conditions which are vesting conditions, including:
A performance condition must contain a service condition
A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of
another entity in the same group
A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition
If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting
period, the service condition is not satisfied.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business
Combination
The amendment is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after July 1,2014. It clarifies that a contingent consideration that is not classified as equity
is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not it falls within the
scope of PAS 39. This amendment is not relevant to the Company.
PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the Total
of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets The amendments are applied
retrospectively and clarify that:

An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria
in the standard, including a brief description of operating segments that have been aggregated
and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to assess whether the
segments are ‘similar’.
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The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required disclosure
for segment liabilities.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of
Accumulated Depreciation, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets: Revaluation Method - Proportionate

Restatement of Accumulated Amortization
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset may
be revalued by reference to the observable data on either the gross or the net carrying amount. In
addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortization is the difference between the gross and
carrying amounts of the asset.

PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity, which is an
entity that provides key management personnel services, is a related party subject to the related
party disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the
expenses incurred for management services. The amendments affect disclosures only and have no
impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRS (2011 to 2013 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011 to 2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. These are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2015. Except as otherwise stated, the amendments have no significant impact on
the financial statements.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies the following regarding the scope exceptions
within PFRS 3:
Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.
This
scope
exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can
be applied not only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the
scope of PAS 39.
PAS 40, Investment Property
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, and not the description of
ancillary services in PAS 40, is used to determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset or
business combination. The description of ancillary services in PAS 40 only differentiates between
investment property and owner- occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment).
New Accounting Standard, Amendments to Existing Standards and Interpretations Effective
Subsequent to December 31, 2015

Standards issued but not yet effective up to date of issuance of the Company’s financial
statements are listed below. The listing consists of standards and interpretations issued, which the
Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt
these standards when they become effective. The Company does not expect the adoption of these
new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its financial
statements.
Effective 2016
Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative The
amendments include narrow-focus improvements in five areas; namely, materiality, disaggregation
and subtotals, notes structure, disclosure of accounting policies and presentation of items of other
comprehensive income arising from equity accounted investments. The amendments are effective
on or after January 1,2016. The amendment will not have any significant impact on the
Company’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization The amendments clarify the
principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are
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generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited
circumstances to amortize intangible
assets. The amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The amendment will not have any significant
impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.

Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of
bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After initial
recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity)
and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity). The amendments also
require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of PAS 41 measured at
fair value less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants, PAS 20, Accounting
for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, will apply. The amendments are
retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early
adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Company as
the Company does not have any bearer plants.

Amendments to PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already
applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will
have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of PFRS electing to use the
equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required to apply this method from
the date of transition to PFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1,2016, with early adoption permitted. The amendment will not have any significant
impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception.
The amendments address certain issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities
exception under PFRS 10. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1,2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments will not have any impact on
the Company’s financial statements.
Amendments to PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint

Operations
The amendments to PFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an
interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business must
apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The amendments also
clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a
scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when
the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the
same ultimate controlling party.
The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The
amendment will not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
performance.

PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts

PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rateregulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRS. PFRS 14 is effective for
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annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The Standard will not have any significant
impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1,2016 and are not expected to have a material impact to the Company’s
financial statements. They include:

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods of
Disposal
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale
to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be a new
plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRs 5. The amendment also clarifies that
changing the disposal method does not change the date of classification.
PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts

PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred
asset that is derecognized in its entirety. The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that
includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess
the nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance in PFRS 7 in order to assess
whether the disclosures are required. The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment
of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be done
retrospectively. However, comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period
beginning before the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments.

PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements

This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report
unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual
report.

PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate

This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate
bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the
country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate
bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used.

PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim
Financial Report’

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must
either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the
interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial
report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report).
Effective 2018

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Hedge Accounting and Amendments to PFRS 9, PFRS 7 and PAS
39
PFRS 9 (2013 version) already includes the third phase of the project to replace PAS 39 which
pertains to hedge accounting. This version of PFRS 9 replaces the rules-based hedge accounting
model of PAS 39 with a more principles-based approach. Changes include replacing the rulesbased hedge effectiveness test with an objectives-based test that focuses on the economic
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, and the effect of credit risk
on that economic relationship; allowing risk
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components to be designated as the hedged item, not only for financial items but also for nonfinancial items, provided that the risk component is separately identifiable and reliably
measurable; and allowing the time value of an option, the forward element of a forward contract
and any foreign currency basis spread to be excluded from the designation of a derivative
instrument as the hedging instrument and accounted for as costs of hedging. PFRS 9 also
requires more extensive disclosures for hedge accounting.
PFRS 9 (2013 version) has no mandatory effective date. The mandatory effective date of
January 1,2018 was eventually set when the final version of PFRS 9 was adopted by the FRSC.
The adoption of the final version of PFRS 9, however, is still for approval by BOA.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.
The adoption of the third phase of the project is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.
Deferred

PFRS 10, Consolidated PFRS 9, Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the final version of PFRS 9 was issued. PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial
instruments project and replaces PAS 39 and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge
accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with
early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is
not compulsory. Early application of previous versions of PFRS 9 is permitted if the date of initial
application is before February 1, 2015.
The Company has no the impact of adopting this standard.
The adoption of the other phases of the project is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.
The following new standard issued by the IASB has not yet been adopted by the FRSC.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
to measuring and recognizing revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities
and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or
modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017, with early adoption permitted. This mandatory adoption date was moved to January
1,2018.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard
on the required effective date once adopted locally.
Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS
10 and those in PAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized
when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial
gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.
These amendments are originally effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2016. This mandatory adoption date was later on deferred indefinitely.
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Management’s Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the assets
and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
(i)
Judgments
The following judgments were applied which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements.
Determination of functional currency
The Company has determined that its functional currency is the Philippine peso which is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.
Classification of leases
Judgment is exercise in determining whether substantially all the significant risk and rewards of
ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Company. Leases where the lessor transfer all
the risk and rewards incidental to the ownership of the leased asset are taken up as finance
leases. Leases where the lessor retains all the risk and rewards to assets are taken up as
operating leases.
Impairment of financial assets
The company follows the guidance of PAS 39 on determining when the investment is other than
temporarily impaired. This determination requires significant judgment. In making this judgment,
the Company evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of
investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for
the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology
and operational and financing cash flow.
(ii)
Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation of uncertainty at
end of reporting period, that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
Determination of fair value of investment property
The Company has adopted the fair value model in determining the carrying value of its
investment properties. The Company has obtained the services of an independent appraiser to
determine the fair value of its investment properties, such fair value was determined based on
recent prices of similar properties with adjustment to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transaction that occurred on those prices.
Estimating Allowance for probable losses on receivables
The Company estimates the allowance for probable losses related to its trade receivable based
on assessment of specific accounts when the Company has information that certain customers
are unable to meet their financial obligation. In these cases, management uses the best
available facts and circumstances including but not limited to third party credit reports and
known market factors.

Estimated Useful Lives of Property and Equipment
The Company reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property and equipment, based on
the period on which the assets are expected to be available for use. It is possible that future
results of operation could be materially affected by changes in these estimates. A reduction in
the estimated useful lives of property and equipment would increase recorded depreciation and
decrease the related asset account.
The company has no property and equipment as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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Deferred tax assets
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax asset at each end of reporting
period and reduces the deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be
utilized.
Estimating Retirement Benefits
The determination of the Company’s obligation and cost for retirement and other retirement
benefits which is based on RA 7641 is dependent on the length of stay of the qualifying
employees and reaching the age of 60 upon retirement. Annually, retirement benefits are
computed based on existing employees and there is no assurance that the employee will still be
with the Company at the age of retirement.
Impairment of non-financial asset
The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Several factors are
considered which could trigger that impairment has occurred. Though management believes that
the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the
assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have material adverse
effect on the results of operations.
6. Fair Value Measurement
The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair
value is determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar instruments for
which market observable price exists.
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and the fair
value in the statements of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.
The following table presents the summary of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
recognized in the Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.
2014
Financial assets
Cash in bank
Financial liabilities
Accounts
payable
and
accrued expenses
Payable to related party
Total

Carrying
Value

2015
Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

2014
Fair
Value

P64,596

P64,596

P60,099

P60,099

P-

P-

P162,434

P162,434

14,224,022
P14,224,022

14,224,022
P14,224,022

13,971,088
P14,133,522

13,971,088
P14,133,522

Due to short-term nature of transactions, fair values approximates the carrying amounts at initial
recognition.
7.

Financial Risk Management
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The main purpose of the Company’s principal financial instruments is to fund its operational and
capital expenditures. The Company’s risk management is coordinated and in close operation with
the Board of Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Company’s short to medium term
cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.
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The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk and liquidity risk The
Company’s overall risk management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
financial performance of the Company.
The policies for managing specific risks are summarized below.
Management of Financial Risk
Governance Framework
The Company has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference and
with the responsibility for developing policies on market, credit, liquidity and operational risk. It
also supports the effective implementation of policies.
The policies define the Company’s identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to
ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets to the corporate goals and specify
reporting requirements.
Capital Management Framework
The Company’s risk management function has developed and implemented certain minimum
stress and scenario tests for identifying the risks to which the Company are exposed, quantifying
their impact on the volatility of economic capital. The results of these tests, particularly, the
anticipated impact on the realistic balance sheet and revenue account, are reported to the
Company’s risk management function. The risk management function then considers the
aggregate impact of the overall capital requirement revealed by the stress testing to assess how
much capital is needed to mitigate the risk of insolvency to a selected remote level.
Regulatory Framework
The operations of the Company are also subject to the regulatory requirements of SEC. Such
regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities but also impose certain
restrictive provisions.
Financial Risk
The Company is also exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities.
The most important components of these financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk.
Credit risk
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 2012 and
2011 balance sheet. The maximum exposure is shown gross, without taking into account
collateral and other credit enhancement.
Gross maximum exposure
2015
2014
Cash in bank
P64,596
P60,099
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The Company has
adopted stringent procedure in extending credit terms to customers and in monitoring its credit
risk.
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge and obligation
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
The Company manages the level of credit risk it accepts through comprehensive credit risk policy
setting out assessment and determination of what constitutes credit risk for the Company;
setting up exposure limits by each counterparty or group of counterparties, geographical and
industry segments; guidelines on obtaining collateral and guarantees; reporting of credit risk
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exposures and breaches to the monitoring authority; monitoring compliance with credit risk
policy and review of credit risk policy for pertinence and changing environment.
Receivable balances if any,are being monitored on a regular basis to ensure timely execution of
necessary intervention efforts.
As of balance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from either the
inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counter party failing on repayment
of contractual obligation; or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.
The Company monitors its cash flow position and overall liquidity position in assessing its
exposure to liquidity risk. The Company maintains a level of cash deemed sufficient to finance
operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows and a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of short-term debt and advances from
related parties.
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 based on contractual undiscounted payments.
2015
Payable to related
party
2014
Accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Payable to related party
Total

On
demand

Due within
2 months

P-

P-

Due
between
2-3
months
P-

No definite
call
14,224,022

P162,434

Due within
2 months
P-

Due
between
2-3 months
P-

No definite
call
P-

P162,434

P-

P-

13,971,088
P13,971,088

On demand

Total
P14,224,022

Total
P162,434
13,971,088
P14,133,522

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuation in foreign
exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price
risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its
issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.
Market risk is the risk to an institution’s financial condition from volatility in the price movements
of the assets contained in a portfolio. Market risk represents what the Company would lose from
price volatilities. Market risk can be measured as the potential gain or loss in a position or
portfolio that is associated with a price movement of a given probability over a specified time
horizon.
i.
Currency risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the company’s functional currency. Significant
fluctuations in the exchanges rates could significantly affect the Company’s position.
ii.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the
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Company to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the Company
to fair value interest risk.
iii.
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss from system failure, human error, fraud, or external events.
When controls fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, have legal or
regulatory implications or can lead to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to eliminate all
operational risk but initiating a rigorous control framework and by monitoring and responding to
potential risks, the Company is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of
duties, access controls, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education, and
assessment processes. Business risk such as changes in environment, technology, and industry
are monitored through the Company’s strategic planning and budgeting processes.
Capital management
The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity
balance.
The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital
structure and adjusts it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may
adjust the dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.
The capital structure of the Company consists of issued capital, and deficit.
During the year ended, the company had a net loss of P86 thousand and P2.3 million as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively. To address its financing requirements the company
will seek sale of investment properties but the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at
this time.
The financial ratio at the year-end, which is within the acceptable range of the Company, is as
follows:
2015
2014
Equity
(P4,878,294) (P4,792,291)
Total Assets
9,345,728
9,341,231
Ratio
(0.52)
(0.51)
8.

Cash in bank
Cash in bank earn interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates. There are no cash equivalents as
of the end of the period.

9.

Real estate inventories
This account consist of various residential lots available for sale. Real estate inventories are
carried at cost.

10.

Other Non-current assets
This account consist of VAI inputs of P81,088 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

11.

Investment in associates
This account consist of investment to Mariestad Mining Corporation amounting to P4.306 million.
In 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with MMC to participate in the extraction of
mining of manganese ores in the latter’s mining site. The Company’s participation is in the form
of providing financial resources to undertake the mining operations. MMC is a dormant
corporation and has not filed its audited financial statements since 2009.
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During 2013, management provided an impairment loss on its investment in MMC amounting to
P2.153 million because the associate’s mining activities did not result to profitable operations.
Further provision for impairment amounting to P2.153 million was recorded in 2014.
12.

Investment Property
This account consist of residential condominium units. There was no addition resulting from
subsequent expenditures and no sale during the year.:
The cost and fair value of investment property are as follows:
2015
2014
Investment property, at cost
P5,829,170 P5,829,170
Accumulated net gain from fair
value adjustments
348,374
348,374
Investment property at fair value
P6,177,544 P6,177,544
Investment properties are stated at fair values, which have been determined based on the latest
valuation report. The valuation undertaken was based on an open market value, supported by a
market evidence in which assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer
and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation.

13.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
This account consist of the accrued expenses in the amount of P162,434as of December 31,
2014.
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities are as follows:
• Trade payables if any, are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on a 90-day
term;
• Accrued expenses are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of two (2)
months;
The fair values of accounts payable and accrued expenses have not been disclosed as, due to
their short duration, management considers the carrying amounts recognized in the balance
sheet to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

14.

Payable to related parties
This account consist of the following:
2015
ATN Holdings, Inc.

P

10,768,677

2014
P

10,768,677

758,715

668,715

2,696,630

2,533,696

P 14,224,022.00

P 13,971,088.00

Palladian Land Dev. Inc.
Stockholders

Payable to related parties are non-interest bearing advances which consist of advances for
various expenses incurred and for meeting extra ordinary financial obligation. These advances
have no definite call period.
15.

Share Capital

The company’s authorized, subscribed and paid-up capital consist of:
2015
No. of
Amount
shares
Authorized-P100 par value
20,000
P2,000,000
Subscribed and paid-up
20,000
P2,000,000
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2014
No. of
shares
20,000
20,000

Amount
P2,000,000
P2,000,000

-

16.

20 -

Deficit
This account consist of:
2015
Balance, January 1

P

6,792,291

2014
P

-

Adjustment on deferred tax assets

645,900.0

86,003

Add: Net Income (loss) for the period
P

6,878,294

3,795,880
2,350,511

P

6,792,291

Adjustments as of December 31, 2014 pertains to the transfer of deferred tax assets of
P645,900 and unrealized gain on investment property to deficit account.
17.

Related Party Transactions
(a) Development Agreement
On May 26, 2004, the Company entered into a development agreement with Palladian Land
Development, Inc. (PLDI).
Under the terms of the agreement, the company (AHCDC) shall facilitate and make available for
development by PLDI the property located at Pasig City. PLDI shall be responsible for all
development cost estimated at Twenty Five Million Pesos (P25,000,000.00)
AHCDC will be allocated majority of the properties under Block One of PT-75382 and PLDI will
be allocated all the properties under Block Two an a portion of Block One of PT-75382.
(b) Development Agreement
On May 26, 2004, the Company (AHCDC) entered into a development agreement with ATN
Holdings, Inc., its ultimate parent company.
Under the terms of the agreement AHCDC shall facilitate and make available for development by
ATN the property located at Pasig City. ATN shall be responsible for all development cost
estimated at Fifteen Million Pesos (P15,000,000.00), and all necessary final design,
specifications, government permits and the execution of construction works in subject property.
AHCDC will be allocated the properties under PT-72580 and PT-72582 and with corresponding
condominium units as its share in the investment. ATN will be allocated the property under PT72584 with the corresponding condominium units as its share in the investment.

18.

Revenues
The company has no revenue as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

19.

Expenses
This account consist of:
2015
Real estate taxes

P

65,884

2014
P

20,119

Miscellaneous

39,112

Provision for impairement

2,153,000
P

20.

158,399

86,003

P

2,350,511

Income Tax expense (benefit)
The company has no income tax due for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
The Company did not recognize any deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2014 on impairment
losses and net loss carry over (NOLCO) since it does not expect to have sufficient profit against
which the deferred tax assets can be utilized.
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21.

21 -

Earnings Per Share
The Company’s earnings per share for the period ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are
computed as follows:
2015
2014
Net loss for the year
P(86,003) P(2,350,511)
Number of shares issued and outstanding
2,000,000
2,000,000
EARNINGS PER SHARE
n/a
n/a
The Company considers its equity contributed by shareholders as capital.
Amount
Share Capital
2,000,000
Total
2,000,000

22.

Other Internal Revenue Matters
In compliance with the requirements se forth by RR 15-2010 hereunder are the information on
taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year:
VAT Output tax
The company has no revenue, for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, thus there were no output taxes.

Other taxes and licenses
Local:
Real estate tax
National:
BIR annual registration
BIR - Others

2015

2014

P65,384

P158,399

500
P65,834

500
P158,899

Withholding taxes paid/accrued for the year:
There were no withholding taxes on compensation, creditable withholding taxes and final
withholding taxes during the year.
Deficiency tax assessments and tax cases
The company has no existing deficiency tax assessments as of December 31, 2015.
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MANAGED CARE PHIL., INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014
1.

Corporate Information
The company (Managed Care Phil., Inc.) was incorporated on April 7, 1998. Its primary purpose
is to establish, maintain, adopt, operate, manage and engage in the business of developing and
promoting prepaid medical, health maintenance and related services like clinics, laboratories,
pharmacies, research centers, hospitals and emergency facilities for the treatment, care and
relief of the sick, injured or otherwise infirm persons including indigent patients including the
care and treatment of maternity cases, with the aim of providing and offering to the public, a
comprehensive, systematic and prevention-oriented concept of medical and health maintenance
programs.
The Company’s office address is 9F Summit One Tower, 530 Shaw Boulevard, Mandaluyong City.
The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with the
resolution by the Board of Directors on March 28, 2016.

2.

Basis of Preparation and Presentation
Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Pesos, which is the Company’s functional
currency.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
contemplate the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of
business.
Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
Council.

3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied for all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
Except as otherwise indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these new and
amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on the financial
statements
This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that
undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors. The Company
assessed that adoption of this interpretation will have no significant impact on its financial
statements.
Financial Assets
Financial assets include cash in banks, receivables and other financial instruments. Financial
assets other than hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories: financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments
and available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by
management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were
acquired.
1

Cash in bank
Cash in bank in current accounts earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates and these are
deposits held at call with banks. Cash equivalents if any may consist of short-term, highly liquid
debt instruments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities
of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the statements of financial position of
the Company when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Initial Recognition
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for financial
assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial instruments includes
transaction costs.
Determination of Fair Value
The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair
value is determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar instruments for
which market observable prices exists.
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value
in the statements of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.
Classification of Financial Instruments
The Company classifies financial assets into the following categories, (i) At fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), (ii) Available-for-sale, (iii) Held-to-maturity and (iv) Loans and receivable.
The Company classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial
liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or
liabilities incurred and whether they are quoted in an active market. Management determines the
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, reevaluates such designation at every reporting date.
(i) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at FVPL
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL include financial assets and financial liabilities
held for trading and financial assets and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVPL.
A financial assets and financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if:
• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
• It is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Company manages
together and has recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
• It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVPL upon
initial recognition if:
• Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistently that would otherwise arise; or
• The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets that is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.
• It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no financial assets under this category.
(ii)

Available-for-sale (AFS)
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AFS are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated on this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS assets are carried
at fair value in the statement of financial position. Changes in the fair value are recognized
directly in equity account as “Revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets”. Where the investment
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized
in equity is included in profit or loss for the period.
As of December 31, 2015 financial assets under this category was sold at Php8,613,500.
(iii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Company provides money, goods
or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. After initial
measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the
effective interest rate.
Included under this category are the company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
security deposits and other receivables.
(iv) Held-to-maturity (HTM)
HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities wherein the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
After initial measurement, HTM assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment in value. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in statements of
comprehensive income.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, there are no financial assets under this category.
(v) Other Financial Liabilities
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as at FVPL are
classified as other financial liabilities where the substance of the contractual arrangement results
in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the
holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. The components of issued
financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for separately,
with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after deducting from the
instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability
component on the date of issue.
After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate.
Any effects of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Included under this category are accounts payable and accrued expenses and long term loans
payable.
Reclassification of Financial Assets
A financial asset is reclassified out of the FVPL category when the following conditions are met
(i) the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; and (ii) there is a rare situation.
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A financial asset that is reclassified out of the FVPL category is reclassified at its fair value on the
date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already recognized in the statement of income is not
reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new
cost or amortized cost, as applicable.
Impairment
Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
(i) Assets carried at amortized cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-tomaturity investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The amount of the loss is recognized in the profit and loss accounts.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss accounts,
to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the
reversal date.
(ii) Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that
is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity
instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are
not reversed in subsequent periods.
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are subject to impairment review at each end of the
reporting period. Impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence such as
significant financial difficulty of the issuer/obligor, significant or prolonged decline in market
prices and adverse economic indicators that the recoverable amount of an asset is below its
carrying amount.
Non-Financial Assets
The Company’s property and equipment are subject to impairment testing. All other individual
assets’ or cash generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less cost to sell and value in use, based on an internal discounted
cash flow evaluation. Impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in the cash
generating unit.
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All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the
recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.
Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial
assets) is derecognized where:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party.
• the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred the control of the asset.
Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the
extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be
required to repay.
Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in profit or loss.
Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are stated at their nominal values as reduced by any appropriate allowances
for doubtful accounts. Any allowance for impairment loss and allowance for doubtful accounts
are the estimated amount of probable losses arising from non-collection based on past collection
experience and management’s review of the current status of the long-outstanding receivables.
Any doubtful account expense is to be recognized in the statement of income.
Other Receivables
Other receivables if any, are stated at amortized cost less provision for impairment. Impairment
of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
Other Current Assets
Other current assets include excess of VAT input over VAT output, tax credits which represent
the total of accumulated creditable withholding tax for current year and prior year’s excess
credit. Other current assets are carried at face value.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are measured at amounts paid and subsequently recognized as expense over
which the prepayments apply.
Investment in and advances to associates
Investments in associates if any, are accounted for using the equity method. An associate is an
entity in which a company has significant influence. Under the equity method, the investments in
associates is initially recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
5

recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognized in the investor’s profit or
loss. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the equity method is discontinued and the
investment is accounted in accordance with PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, and
any impairment in value.
The initial cost of property, plant and equipment consists of its purchase price, including any
directly attributable costs in bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditures incurred after the item has been put into operation, such as repairs,
maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally recognized as expense in the period the costs are
incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have
improved the condition of the asset beyond the originally assessed standard of performance, the
expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment. When assets
are sold or retired, their costs and accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment
losses, if any, are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal
is included in the statement of operations of such period
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives except for
portal and enterprise system which is computed based on the aggregate predicted life of 15-20
years from the date of launch.
The useful life of each of the property, plant and equipment is estimated based on the period
over which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is based on a collective
assessment of industry practice and experience with similar assets.
The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of operations in the year the item
is derecognized.
Intangible assets
The Company’s portal and enterprise system is carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the
end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.
Amortization is computed based on the aggregate predicted life of 15-20 years from the date of
launch.
Investment property
Investment property if any, consist of properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both and that is not occupied by the company.
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Company uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These
valuations are reviewed annually by the Group. Investment property that is being redeveloped
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for continuing use as investment property or for which the market has become less active
continues to be measured at fair value.
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of, or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognized in the statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal.
Accounts Payables
Accounts payables are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied
and have been invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier. Trade payables are non interest
bearing and are stated at their nominal value.
Accruals, are liabilities to pay for goods or services that have been received or supplied but have
not been paid, invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier, including amounts due to
employees. It is necessary to estimate the amount or timing of accruals, however, the
uncertainty is generally much less than for provisions
Equity
Share capital is determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued and fully
paid. Any costs of acquiring Company’s own shares are shown as a deduction from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. When
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
Deficit
Deficit include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of income.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income, if any are recognized as part of total comprehensive income, outside of
profit or loss, when they arise. Comprehensive income may represent some gains and losses
arising on translating the financial statements of a foreign corporation, some actuarial gains and
losses, and some changes in fair values of hedging instruments.
The Company has no comprehensive income for the periods ending December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014.
Revenue and cost recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. However, when an uncertainty
arises about the collectibility of an amount already included in the revenue, the uncollectible
amount, or the amount in respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognized as
an expense, rather than as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognized.
The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
Sale of Services - Revenue is recognized upon rendering of services or completion of services
made.
Interest Income is recognized as the interest accrues (taking into account the effective yield on
the asset).
Operating expenses are recognized in the statement of income upon utilization of the service or
in the date they are incurred. Finance costs are reported on an accrual basis.
Employee Benefits
Short-term Benefits
The Company recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services
rendered by employees during the accounting period. Short-term benefits given by the Company
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to its employees include salaries and wages, social security contributions, short-term
compensated absences, bonuses and other non-monetary benefits.
Retirement Benefit Cost
The Company provides for estimated retirement benefits costs required to be paid under RA
7641 to qualifying employees. The cost of defined retirement benefits, including those mandated
ender RA 7641 is determined using the accrued benefits valuation method or projected benefit
valuation method. Both methods require an actuarial valuation which the Company has not
undertaken. Management believes, however, that the effect on the financial statements of the
difference between the retirement cost determined under the current method used by the
Company and an acceptable actuarial valuation method is not significant.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs if any, are generally expenses as incurred. Borrowing costs, including exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest cost, are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of an qualifying asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being
incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognized.
For income tax reporting purposes, borrowing costs are treated as deductible expense in the
year such are incurred.
Leases
Properties leased out under operating leases if any, are included in investment property in the
balance sheet. Lease income is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments if any are recognized as an
expense in the statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Income Taxes
The tax currently payable for the year is Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT). Taxable profit
differs from net profit as reported in the statements of operations, because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The reconciliation of the Company’s liability, if any, for
current tax is calculated using 30% tax rate.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.
Deferred income tax, is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities, if any, are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry
forward benefits of unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), if any, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and carry forward of NOLCO can be utilized.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets, is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets, if any,
are reassessed at each balance date and are recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax asset and liabilities, are measured at the tax rates expected in the year when the
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Value-Added Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of value-added tax except:
Where the value-added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from
the taxation authority, in which case the value-added tax is recognized as part of the costs of
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value-added tax included.
The net amount of value-added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is
included as part of other current assets or payables in the balance sheets.
Related Parties
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Individuals, associated or companies that directly or indirectly control or are controlled by or are
under common control with the company are also considered related parties. Advances to
related party and payable to related party are non interest bearing advances to augment
working capital requirements and had no definite call.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when present obligation will probably lead to an outflow of economic
resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may
still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive
commitment that has resulted from past events, for example legal disputes for onerous contract.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation,
based on the most reliable evidence available at end of reporting period, including the risks and
uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Any reimbursement expected to be received
in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if virtually certain, as a
separate asset at an amount not exceeding the balance of the related provision. Where there are
a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligation as a whole. In addition, long term provisions
are discounted at their present values, where time value of money is material.
Provisions are reviewed at each end of reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be
measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statement.
Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset
are considered contingent asset, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets
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are not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits
is probable.
Subsequent Events
The Company identifies subsequent events as events that occurred after the balance sheet date
but before the date when the financial statements were authorized for issue. Any subsequent
events that provide additional information about the Company’s financial position at the balance
sheet date are reflected in the financial statements.
Events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when
material.
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the
common shareholders of the company by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year, after considering the retroactive effect of stock dividend
declaration, if any.
4.

Changes in Accounting Standards

New Accounting Standards and Amendments to Existing Standards Effective as of January 1,
2015

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except
for the adoption of the following amendments to PFRS effective beginning January 1, 2015. The
adoption however did not result to any material changes in the financial statements.

Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
PAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when
accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they should
be attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the
amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is
permitted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in
which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service.
This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1,2014. The
amendment does not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRS (2010 to 2012 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010 to 2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. These are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after July 1, 2014. Except as otherwise stated, the amendments do not have a significant impact
on the financial statements.

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition

This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions
of performance and service conditions which are vesting conditions, including:
A performance condition must contain a service condition
A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of
another entity in the same group
A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition
If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting
period, the service condition is not satisfied.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business

Combination
The amendment is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after July 1,2014. It clarifies that a contingent consideration that is not classified as
equity is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not it falls within
the scope of PAS 39. This amendment is not relevant to the Company.
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PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the
Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets The amendments are applied
retrospectively and clarify that:
An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation
criteria in the standard, including a brief description of operating segments that have been
aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to
assess whether the segments are ‘similar’.
The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required
disclosure for segment liabilities.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of
Accumulated Depreciation, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets: Revaluation Method - Proportionate
Restatement of Accumulated Amortization
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset may
be revalued by reference to the observable data on either the gross or the net carrying amount.
In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortization is the difference between the gross
and carrying amounts of the asset.
PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity, which is an
entity that provides key management personnel services, is a related party subject to the related
party disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose
the expenses incurred for management services. The amendments affect disclosures only and
have no impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRS (2011 to 2013 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011 to 2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. These are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2015. Except as otherwise stated, the amendments have no significant impact
on the financial statements.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies the following regarding the scope
exceptions within PFRS 3:
Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.
This scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13
can be applied not only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts
within the scope of PAS 39.

PAS 40, Investment Property
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, and not the description of
ancillary services in PAS 40, is used to determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset or
business combination. The description of ancillary services in PAS 40 only differentiates between
investment property and owner- occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment).
New Accounting Standard, Amendments to Existing Standards and Interpretations Effective
Subsequent to December 31, 2015
Standards issued but not yet effective up to date of issuance of the Company’s financial
statements are listed below. The listing consists of standards and interpretations issued, which
the Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to
adopt these standards when they become effective. The Company does not expect the adoption
of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its
financial statements.
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Effective 2016
Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative The
amendments include narrow-focus improvements in five areas; namely, materiality,
disaggregation and subtotals, notes structure, disclosure of accounting policies and presentation
of items of other comprehensive income arising from equity accounted investments. The
amendments are effective on or after January 1,2016. The amendment will not have any
significant impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization The amendments clarify the
principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are
generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method
cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very
limited circumstances to amortize intangibleassets. The amendments are effective prospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The
amendment will not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
performance.

Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of
bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After
initial recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before
maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity). The
amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of
PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants,
PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, will apply.
The amendments are retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any impact
to the Company as the Company does not have any bearer plants.
Amendments to PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already
applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements
will have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of PFRS electing to use the
equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required to apply this method
from the date of transition to PFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1,2016, with early adoption permitted. The amendment will not have any
significant impact on the Company’s financial position or performance.
Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities:

Applying the Consolidation Exception.

The amendments address certain issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities
exception under PFRS 10. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1,2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments will not have any
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Amendments to PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint

Operations
The amendments to PFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an
interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business
must apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on
the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained.
In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under
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common control of the same ultimate controlling party.
The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The
amendment will not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or
performance.

PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts

PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rateregulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRS. PFRS 14 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The Standard will not have any significant impact on the
Company’s financial position or performance.
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1,2016 and are not expected to have a material impact to the Company’s
financial statements. They include:

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods of
Disposal
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale
to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be a new
plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRs 5. The amendment also clarifies that
changing the disposal method does not change the date of classification.
PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts

PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred
asset that is derecognized in its entirety. The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that
includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess
the nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance in PFRS 7 in order to assess
whether the disclosures are required. The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment
of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be done
retrospectively. However, comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period
beginning before the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments.

PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements

This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report
unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual
report.

PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate

This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate
bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the
country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate
bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used.

PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim
Financial Report’

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must
either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the
interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial
report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report).
Effective 2018

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Hedge Accounting and Amendments to PFRS 9, PFRS 7 and PAS
39
PFRS 9 (2013 version) already includes the third phase of the project to replace PAS 39 which
pertains to hedge accounting. This version of PFRS 9 replaces the rules-based hedge accounting
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model of PAS 39 with a more principles-based approach. Changes include replacing the rulesbased hedge effectiveness test with an objectives-based test that focuses on the economic
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, and the effect of credit risk
on that economic relationship; allowing risk components to be designated as the hedged item,
not only for financial items but also for non-financial items, provided that the risk component is
separately identifiable and reliably measurable; and allowing the time value of an option, the
forward element of a forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread to be excluded
from the designation of a derivative instrument as the hedging instrument and accounted for as
costs of hedging. PFRS 9 also requires more extensive disclosures for hedge accounting. PFRS 9
(2013 version) has no mandatory effective date. The mandatory effective date of January 1,2018
was eventually set when the final version of PFRS 9 was adopted by the FRSC. The adoption of
the final version of PFRS 9, however, is still for approval by BOA.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.
The adoption of the third phase of the project is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the final version of PFRS 9 was issued. PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial
instruments project and replaces PAS 39 and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge
accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with
early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is
not compulsory. Early application of previous versions of PFRS 9 is permitted if the date of initial
application is before February 1, 2015.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.
The adoption of the other phases of the project is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements.
The following new standard issued by the IASB has not yet been adopted by the FRSC.
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
to measuring and recognizing revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities
and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or
modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017, with early adoption permitted. This mandatory adoption date was moved to January
1,2018.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard
on the required effective date once adopted locally.
Deferred

PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in PFRS
10 and those in PAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full gain or loss is recognized
when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial
gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.
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These amendments are originally effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2016. This mandatory adoption date was later on deferred indefinitely.
5.

Management’s Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying financial statements in conformity with Financial Reporting
Framework (in reference to the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards) requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial
statements are based upon management’s evaluations of relevant facts and circumstances as of
the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from such estimates.
Judgments
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with Financial Reporting
Framework (in reference to the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards) requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Company’s financial
statements and accompanying notes. The estimates and assumptions used in the Company’s
financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances as of the date of the Company’s financial statements. Actual results could differ
from such estimates, judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Determining Functional Currency
Based on economic substance of underlying circumstances relevant to the Company, the
functional currency has been determined to be the Philippine peso. The Philippine peso is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates and it is the
currency that mainly influences the prices of the products and services and the cost of providing
such products and services.
Estimates
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not easily apparent from other source. The estimates and associated assumption are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in period of revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
The following represents a summary of the significant estimates and judgments and related
impact and associated risks in the Company’s financial statements.
Evaluation of asset impairment
The Company assesses the impairment of assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the
Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include significant
changes in asset usage, significant decline in assets’ market value and obsolescence or physical
damage of an asset. If such indications are present and where the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. The net
selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction
while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the
continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. Recoverable
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amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
In determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from
the continued use of the assets, the Company is required to make estimates and assumptions
that may affect property and equipment.
Estimating useful lives of property and equipment
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment based on the period over
which these assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of these
assets are reviewed at least annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence on the use of
these assets. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by
changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.
A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the property and equipment would increase the
recorded expenses and decrease the non-current assets.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:
Number of yrs.
15
5
10
15

Medical Equipment
Transportation equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

Financial assets and liabilities
The Company carries some of its financial assets and liabilities at fair value, which requires
extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment. While significant components of fair value
measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence, i.e., interest rates, volatility
rates, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Company utilized different valuation
methodology. Any changes in fair value of these financial assets and liabilities would affect
directly the statements of income and equity, as appropriate.
Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The Company assesses the value of property, plant and equipment which require the
determination of future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and
ultimate disposition of such assets, and require the Company to make estimates and
assumptions that can materially affect the financial statements. Future events could cause the
Company to conclude that property, plant and equipment and other long-lived assets are
impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the Company's
financial condition and results of operations.
The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and
estimations. While the Company believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable,
significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the Company's assessment of
recoverable values and may lead to future additional impairment charges.
Deferred tax assets
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each balance sheet
date and reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. However,
there is no assurance that the Company will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part
of its deferred tax assets to be utilized.
Revenue recognition
The Company’s revenue recognition policies require the use of estimates and assumptions that
may affect the reported amounts of revenues and receivables. Differences between the amounts
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Liquidity risk is a risk due to uncertain liquidity. An institution may suffer liquidity problem when
its credit rating falls. The Group is also exposed to liquidity risk if markets on which it depends
on are subject to loss of liquidity.
The Company manages its liquidity profile to: a) ensure that adequate funding is available at all
times; b) meet commitments as they arise without incurring unnecessary costs; c) be able to
access funding when needed at the least possible cost, and d) maintain an adequate time spread
of financial maturities.
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 based on contractual undiscounted payments:
Later than 1

Later than 1

Later than 1

Not later than

month & not

month & not

month & not

one month

later than 3 mos

2015

later than 1 year later than 5 year

Total

Accounts payable and accrued
expenses

P

782,644

P

Payable to related party
P

782,644

2014

-

-

P

782,644

18,609,636

18,609,636

18,609,636 P

19,392,280

Later than 1

Later than 1

Later than 1

Not later than

month & not

month & not

month & not

one month

later than 3 mos

later than 1 y ear

later than 5 y ear

Total

Accounts pay able and accrued
ex penses

P

1,035,458

P

Pay able to related party
P

1,035,458

-

-

P

1,035,458

25,248,790

25,248,790

25,248,790 P

26,284,248

Credit risk
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 2014 and
2013 balance sheet. The maximum exposure is shown gross, without taking into account
collateral and other credit enhancement.
Gross maximum exposure
2015
2014
5,467,974 P
2,353,799
1,602,301
506,768
6,460,125
73,538
73,538
7,143,813 P
9,394,230

P

Cash in bank
Trade receivable
Available for-sale-investment
Advances to related party

P

Credit quality of the Company’s assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

2015
Accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Payable to related party

2014
Accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Payable to related party

Later than 1
Later than 1
Later than 1
Not later than
month & not
month & not
month & not
one month ater than 3 mos ater than 1 year ater than 5 year
P

782,644

P

782,644

Not later than
one month
P
P

-

18,609,636
P 18,609,636

-

Later than 1
month & not
later than 3 mos

Later than 1
month & not
later than 1 year

Total
P

782,644
18,609,636
P 19,392,280

Later than 1
month & not
later than 5 year

1,035,458

Total
P

1,035,458

-

-

P

25,248,790
25,248,790

P

1,035,458
25,248,790
26,284,248

High grade cash in bank are short-term placements placed, invested, or deposited in banks
belonging to the top banks in the Philippines in terms of resources and profitability.
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High grade accounts, other than cash and cash equivalents, are accounts considered to be of
high value. The counterparties have a very remote likelihood of default and have consistently
exhibited good paying habits.
Standard grade accounts are active accounts with propensity of deteriorating to mid-range age
buckets. These accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties generally respond to
credit actions and update their payments accordingly.
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuation in foreign
exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price
risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or
its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.
Market risk is the risk to an institution’s financial condition from volatility in the price movements
of the assets contained in a portfolio. Market risk represents what the Company would lose from
price volatilities. Market risk can be measured as the potential gain or loss in a position or
portfolio that is associated with a price movement of a given probability over a specified time
horizon.
i.
Currency risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the company’s functional currency. Significant
fluctuations in the exchanges rates could significantly affect the Company’s position.
ii.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
iii.
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss from system failure, human error, fraud, or external events.
When controls fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, have legal or
regulatory implications or can lead to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to eliminate all
operational risk but initiating a rigorous control framework and by monitoring and responding to
potential risks, the Company is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation
of duties, access controls, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education, and
assessment processes. Business risk such as changes in environment, technology, and industry
are monitored through the Company’s strategic planning and budgeting processes.
Capital management
The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity
balance.
The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital
structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may
adjust the dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.
The capital structure of the Company consists of issued capital and retained earnings.
The financial ratio at the year-end, which is within the acceptable range of the Company, is as
follows:
Equity
Total assets
Ratio

P
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2015
10,553,473
30,539,876
0.35

P

2014
8,595,634
35,268,773
0.24

8.

Cash in banks
Cash in banks consists of deposits from a reputable local bank which earn interest at the
prevailing bank deposit rates. Cash in banks is P5,467,975 and P2,353,799 as of December 31
2015 and 2014 respectively.

9.

Trade receivable
Trade receivable is P1,602,301 and P506,768 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively.
No allowance for doubtful accounts was provided for the year as management believes that all
accounts are fully collectible.

10.

Other current assets
This account consist of:
P

Security deposits
VAT inputs
Prepaid tax

11.

P

2015
98,800
98,800

P

P

2014
98,800
327,637
97,424
523,861

Available-for-Sale Investments
In 1998 and prior-years, the company acquired 68% equity in Ambulatory Health Care Institute,
Inc. In 2006 ownership of certain blocks of shares were declared null and void by the Court due
to technical issues. With the declaration, equity ownership was reduced to 47%. Even with
Company’s equity interest, it was not able to exercise significant influence over the associate’s
operating and financial processes, hence the investment was re classified and recognized under
PAS 39 and the related accumulated equity in the net earnings was reversed to retained
earnings.
During 2013, allowance for impairment was provided in the amount of P2,153,375.
The balance of this account as of December 31, 2014 is P6,460,125, net of allowance for
impairment.
On December 21, 2015, the available-for-sale investment was sold to Unipage Management Inc.
in the amount of P8,613,500.

12.

Property and equipment
The movements in this account as of December 31 are as follows:
2015

Medical
Kind of Property

Cost
Additions

Office furniture Transportation

Leasehold

Equipment
and fixtures
Equipment Improvements
Total
P 34,194,095 P
5,208,509 P
995,536 P 12,005,545 P 52,403,685
1,645,536
1,645,536
34,194,095
5,208,509
2,641,072
12,005,545
54,049,221

Accumulated depreciation and
amortizations
Balance at beg of year
Depreciation for the year
Balance at end of year
Book Value

16,478,942
1,805,763
18,284,705
P 15,909,390 P

3,751,151
413,461
4,164,612
1,043,897 P
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995,536
995,536
1,645,536 P

7,916,516
571,083
8,487,599

29,142,145
2,790,307
31,932,452

3,517,946 P 22,116,768

2014
Kind of Property
Cost

Medical
Equipment
P 34,194,095 P

Office furniture

Transportation

and fixtures
5,208,509 P

Leasehold

Equipment
Improvements
Total
995,536 P 12,005,545 P 52,403,685

Accumulated depreciation and
amortizations
Balance at beg of year

14,673,179

3,337,690

995,536

7,345,433

26,351,838

Depreciation for the year
Balance at end of year

1,805,763
16,478,942

413,461
3,751,151

995,536

571,083
7,916,516

2,790,307
29,142,145

Book Value
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P 17,715,153 P

1,457,358

P

2015
5,000,000

P

3,600,000
350,000
3,950,000
1,050,000

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
This account consists of:
P

Trade
Accrued expenses

15.

P

4,089,029 P 23,261,540

P

2014
5,000,000

P

3,250,000
350,000
3,600,000
1,400,000

Intangible assets
The movement in intangible assets follows:
Cost
Accumulated amortizations
Balance at beginning of year
Provisions
Balance at end of year
Net book value as at December 31

14.

-

P

2015
543,786 P
238,858
782,644 P

2014
616,746
418,712
1,035,458

Related party transactions
The following are transactions with related parties during the year:
2015
Advances (payments) made to:
ATN Holdings, Inc.
Stockholders

(13,000,000)
(5,187,308)

2014
(2,700,000)
-

The year-end balances of receivables and advances to related parties after considering related
party transactions for the year are as follows:
2015
Receivable from (payable to)
ATN Holdings, Inc.
Palladian Land Dev. Inc.
Stockholders

(13,422,328)
73,538
(5,187,308)

2014
(25,322,328)
73,538
-

Key management personnel do not derive compensation from the Company.
16.

Pension Liability
Retirement benefit cost recognized in the financial statements computed under RA 7641
amounted to P388,891 in 2014 and P138,118 in 2013. Management believes that retirement
benefits accrued under RA 7641 does not materially differ from that of PAS 19.
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2015
VAT Output taxes
Amount
Gross revenue subject to VAT

P

VAT input taxes
Amount
Domestic purchased of goods and services
Other taxes, licenses and fees
Local
Business permit
National
Annual registration
Withholding taxes
Tax on compensation and benefits
Creditable withholding taxes

1,110,767
9,256,390

2014
P

856,264
856,264

610,880
5,090,665

431,391
3,594,925

39,579

37,517

500

500

8,222
97,766

26,003
121,583

Deficiency tax assessments and tax cases
The company has no existing deficiency tax assessments.
Supplementary information required under RR 19-2011
Details of direct costs for income tax purposes are as follows:
P

Depreciation and amortization
Utilities, dues and communication
Rent
Salaries, wages and other benefits
Medical supplies
Retainers' fee
Contractual services

P

1,805,763
1,406,714
964,702
935,847
994,457
475,478
99,170
6,682,131

Details of administrative expenses for income tax purposes are as follows:
P

Depreciation and amortization
Salaries, wages and other benefits
Office supplies
Transportation
Taxes and licenses
Communication
Miscellaneous
Repairs and maintenance

P

24

1,334,544
200,304
98,101
49,608
40,079
39,236
7,299
4,580
1,773,751
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A. BOARD MATTERS
1) Board of Directors
Number of Directors per Articles of Incorporation

11

Actual number of Directors for the year

11

(a) Composition of the Board
Complete the table with information on the Board of Directors:

Director’s Name

Type
[Executive
(ED), NonExecutive
(NED) or
Independent
Director
(ID)]

Arsenio T. Ng
Hyland Si
Hilario Ng
Chee Choong Cheah
Bonifacio Choa
Santos L. Cejoco
Manuel R. Moje
Arturo V. Magtibay
Paul B. Saria
Eduard O. Jalandoni
Renato E. Taguiam

Chairman
(ID)
(NED)
(ID)
(ID)
(NED)
(NED)
(NED)
(ED)
(NED)
(NED)

If
nominee,
identify
the
principal

Nominator
in the last
election (if
ID, state the
relationship
with the
nominator)

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

Date first
elected

Date last
elected (if
ID, state the
number of
years served
as ID)

Elected
when
(Annual
/Special
Meeting)

1995
1995
1995
1995
1995
2002
2010
2010
2011
2015
2015

Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015

Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual

No. of
years
served as
director

20
20
20
20
20
13
5
5
3
2 months
2 months

(b) Provide a brief summary of the corporate governance policy that the board of directors has adopted. Please
emphasize the policy/ies relative to the treatment of all shareholders, respect for the rights of minority
shareholders and of other stakeholders, disclosure duties, and board responsibilities.
A Compliance Officer was appointed to implement the Company’s polices on good governance. The
Compliance Officer meets with the Chairman at least every quarter to discuss good governance-related issues.
The Company did not deviate from the adopted Manual of Corporate Governance and all members of the
Board Directors as well as Senior Management officers completed and were duly certified to have attended a
1-day special in-house seminar on Corporate Governance. The company continues to find ways to improve
corporate governance. The Corporate Governance Seminar was held on December 10, 2015.
The CEO and Directors received no compensation from the Company whatsoever for the last five completed
fiscal years and the ensuing fiscal tear. The salaries, wages and benefits reflected in the income statement
refer to compensation of operating and administrative staff. Such compensation does not include the financial
consideration given to the four directors and executive officers by the CEO in his other operating businesses
not related to the listed company.
There are no warrants and options granted to Directors and Officers of the Company.
The members of the Board are entitled to receive a reasonable per diem of Php5,000 for attendance at each
meeting of the Board of Directors. Other than such per diem, there is no other arrangement pursuant to which
any amount of compensation is due to the directors for services rendered as such.
(c) How often does the Board review and approve the vision and mission?
Every time there is a new business sector the company will be gearing towards to, the Board will review and
approve the present vision and mission.
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(d) Directorship in Other Companies
(i) Directorship in the Company’s Group
Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the company’s Board of Directors who hold the office of
director in other companies within its Group:
Corporate Name of the
Group Company

Director’s Name
Arsenio T. Ng

Hilario T. Ng
Paul B. Saria

Transpacific Broadband Group, Int’l, Inc.
Managed Care Phils., Inc.
Palladian Land Development, Inc.
Advanced Home Concept Dev’t, Corp.
Palladian Land Development, Inc.
Transpacific Broadband Group, Int’l, Inc.
Transpacific Broadband Group, Int’l, Inc.
Palladian Land Development, Inc.
Advanced Home Concept Dev’t, Corp.

Type of Directorship (Executive,
Non-Executive, Independent).
Indicate if director is also the
Chairman.
Chairman
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Executive Officer
President
Chief Financial Officer
Nomination Committee Member
Vice President
Corporate Secretary
Chief Financial Officer
Nomination Committee Chairman

(ii) Directorship in Other Listed Companies
Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the company’s Board of Directors who are also directors of
publicly-listed companies outside of its Group:

Director’s Name

Name of Listed Company

Manuel R. Moje
Arturo V. Magtibay

Abacus Consolidated Resources & Holdings, Inc.
Abacus Consolidated Resources & Holdings, Inc.

Type of Directorship
(Executive, Non-Executive,
Independent). Indicate if
director is also the
Chairman.

Director
Director

(iii) Relationship within the Company and its Group
Provide details, as and if applicable, of any relation among the members of the Board of Directors, which
links them to significant shareholders in the company and/or in its group:
Director’s Name
Arsenio T. Ng
Hilario T. Ng

Name of the
Significant Shareholder
Arsenio T. Ng
Hilario T. Ng

Description of the relationship
Older brother of Hilario Ng
Younger brother of Arsenio Ng

(iv) Has the company set a limit on the number of board seats in other companies (publicly listed, ordinary
and companies with secondary license) that an individual director or CEO may hold simultaneously? In
particular, is the limit of five board seats in other publicly listed companies imposed and observed? If yes,
briefly describe other guidelines:
The Board of Directors shall consist of (11) members, but such number may be altered from time to time
in accordance with law. The members of the Board of Directors shall be chosen by the stockholders of the
corporation entitled to vote at the annual meeting and shall hold office for one year and until their
successors are elected and shall have qualified.

Guidelines

Maximum Number of
Directorships in other
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(e)

companies
N/A
N/A
N/A

No Limits Placed
No Limits Placed
No Limits Placed

Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
CEO
Shareholding in the Company

Complete the following table on the members of the company’s Board of Directors who directly and indirectly
own shares in the company:
As of August 31, 2015, the company had 237 holders of Class “A” shares and 34 class “B” shares. The high and
low market price on August 24, 2015 for Class A is Php 0.23 and Php 0.22 respectively and for Class B shares is
Php0.242 and Php0.235 respectively.
The top 20 stockholders as of August 31, 2015 are as follows:
Class “A” Stockholder

No. of Shares
Held

1. Arsenio T. Ng
2. PCD Nominee Corp. (Fil)
3. Diana L. Ng
4. Susana Ng
5. Hilario T. Ng
6. Ng Bun Kui
7. Irene T. Ng
8. Tiu, Vicente
9. Tiu, Meling
10. Ng, Eng Ching
11. Mandanas Hermilando
12. Uniwell Securities, Inc.
13. Ng, Ardi Bradley
14. Ng, Matthew Hilary
15. Ng, Mark Timothy
16. David Go. Securities Corp.
17. Ty, Anita
18. Ng, Tiffany Anne
19. Trendline Securities, Inc.
20. Merchantile Sec. Grp.

2,763,541,260
732,722,730
79,840,000
28,793,960
26,794,820
12,792,960
7,802,960
3,999,000
3,999,000
3,000,000
2,490,000
2,200,000
2,000,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,510,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
1,040,000
1,020,000

% of Total
Shares
Outstanding
74.69%
19.79%
2.16%
0.78%
0.72%
0.38%
0.35%
0.21%
0.11%
0.11%
0.08%
0.06%
0.06%
0.05%
0.05%
0.05%
0.04%
0.04%
0.04%
0.02%

Class “B” Stockholder
1. PCD Nominee Corp. (Fil)
2. PCD Nomi.Corp. (Non-Fil)
3. Limqueco, Abraham
4. Choa, Bonifacio
5. Yu Ting Guan
6. Crisostomo, Jose Mariano
7.Ansaldo, Godinez & Co.
8. Manuel Ang
9.ATC Securities,Inc.
10. 7K Corporation
11. Cualoping Securities Corp
12.Major Lord Desmond Clive
13. BPI Securities Corp.
14. Mina, Mario
15. IB.Gimenez Securities Inc.
16. Tansengco & Co., Inc.
17. Jaime Villanueva
18. Ong Giok Kheng
19. Barcelon, Roxas Sec. Inc.
20. Patrocinio Villanueva

No. of
Shares Held
760,625,730
33,429,000
4,000,000
1,000,000
500,000
100,000
43,950
40,000
38,000
35,020
30,000
22,500
20,000
20,000
13,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000

% of Total
Shares
Outstanding
96.31%
2.95%
0.50%
0.13%
0.06%
0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

2) Chairman and CEO
(a) Do different persons assume the role of Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO? If no, describe the
checks and balances laid down to ensure that the Board gets the benefit of independent views.

Yes

No x

Identify the Chair and CEO:
Chairman of the Board
CEO/President

Arsenio T. Ng
Arsenio T. Ng

(b) Roles, Accountabilities and Deliverables
Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Chairman and CEO.
Chairman
Role

Preside at all meetings of the Board of
Directors

Chief Executive Officer
General supervision of the business,
affairs and properties of the
Corporation, and over its several
officers and employees.

6

Accountabilities

Formulation of policies towards all
shareholders

Deliverables

Makes sure that good governance is
actualized

He shall see to it that all orders and
resolutions of the Board of Directors
are carried into effect
He shall execute and sign contracts
and other obligations authorized by
the Board of Directors. He has the
authority and power to select and
appoint and to fix their respective

3) Explain how the boards of directors plan for the succession of the CEO/Managing Director/President and the top
key management positions?
Officers shall be elected by its new Board at the first meeting after its election. Every such officer so elected shall
be subject to renewal at any time by the Board of Directors but all officers, unless removed, shall hold office until
their successor are duly elected and shall have qualified. The Board of directors may also appoint from time to time
such assistant secretaries and assistant treasurers, and such other agents and employees of the corporation as
may be deemed proper, and may authorize any officers to appoint and remove agents or employees Each of such
agents and employees shall hold office during pleasure of the Board of Directors, or his superior officer, subject,
however, to any special agreement as to the length of time of service.
4) Other Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors
Does the company have a policy of ensuring diversity of experience and background of directors in the board?
Please explain.
The positions that are taken up by the major shareholders are filled by members with remarkable skills and
knowledgeable experiences. As these are filled with well-versed and well-rounded individuals in various fields of
expertise; diversity of experience promotes growth and development to the company as a whole.
Does it ensure that at least one non-executive director has an experience in the sector or industry the company
belongs to? Please explain.
The company greatly values directors with well-rounded experiences, capable of making sound and apt decisions
as times change. Industry expertise, local & global outlook and proficiency of a non-executive director are also
taken into account during selection.
Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Executive, Non-Executive and Independent
Directors:

Role

Executive
The Chairman of the
Board shall preside at all
meetings of the Board of
Directors and shall act as
Chairman at and call to
order all meetings of the
stockholders of the
Corporation. He shall
represent the
Management.

Accountabilities

Over-all management

Deliverables

Meet company growth
targets

Non-Executive

Independent Director

He shall represent the
interests and concerns of
major shareholders.

He shall provide neutral
observations in company
affairs.

Ensuring continuous
growth and
development
Continuous monitoring
of company growth

Provide industry
expertise
Safeguard shareholders
interest

Provide the company’s definition of "independence" and describe the company’s compliance to the definition.
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An Independent director is an individual capable of carrying out independent judgments. He is not an officer or
employee of the said company or any of its subsidiaries.
Does the company have a term limit of five consecutive years for independent directors? If after two years, the
company wishes to bring back an independent director who had served for five years, does it limit the term for no
more than four additional years? Please explain.
No term limits for independent directors were established.
5) Changes in the Board of Directors (Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors)
(a) Resignation/Death/Removal
Indicate any changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that happened during the period:
Name
Jose Romero
Yu Ting Guan

Position
Non-Executive
Director
Non-Executive
Director

Date of Cessation

Reason

November 12, 2015

Old Age

November 12, 2015

Non-Active Director

(b) Selection/Appointment, Re-election, Disqualification, Removal, Reinstatement and Suspension
Describe the procedures for the selection/appointment, re-election, disqualification, removal, reinstatement
and suspension of the members of the Board of Directors. Provide details of the processes adopted
(including the frequency of election) and the criteria employed in each procedure:
Procedure
a. Selection/Appointment
(i) Executive Directors
(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors
b. Re-appointment
(i) Executive Directors
(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors
c. Permanent Disqualification
(i) Executive Directors
(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors
d. Temporary Disqualification
(i) Executive Directors
(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors
e. Removal
(i) Executive Directors
(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors
f. Re-instatement
(i) Executive Directors
(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors
g. Suspension
(i) Executive Directors

Process Adopted

Criteria

Nominated/Elected
Nominated/Elected
Nominated/Elected

Ex officio
Major shareholders
Based on qualifications

Election via ASM
Election via ASM
Election via ASM

One share/ one vote
One share/ one vote
One share/ one vote

As per by-laws
As per by-laws
As per by-laws

SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws

As per by-laws
As per by-laws
As per by-laws

SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws

As per by-laws
As per by-laws
As per by-laws

SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws

As per by-laws
As per by-laws
As per by-laws

SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws

As per by-laws

SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
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(ii) Non-Executive Directors
(iii) Independent Directors

As per by-laws
As per by-laws

SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws
SEC rules, PSE rules, By-laws

Voting Result of the last Annual General Meeting
Name of Director

Votes Received

Arsenio T. Ng
Hilario Ng
Santos Cejoco
Renato Taguiam
Paul B. Saria
Eduard O. Jalandoni
Manuel R. Moje
Arturo Magtibay
Chee Chong Cheah
Bonifacio Choa
Hyland Si

70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares
70% of total voting shares

6) Orientation and Education Program
(a) Disclose details of the company’s orientation program for new directors, if any.
No formal company orientation program was established. Orientation programs and corporate trainings are
done internally. Moreover, the company sponsored a corporate governance seminar for directors and key
personnel of ATN Holdings on December 10, 2015 to comply with regulatory requirements.
(b) State any in-house training and external courses attended by Directors and Senior Management 1 for the past
three (3) years:
SEC-Accredited Training Provider on Corporate Governance, Center for Global Best Practices Foundation, Inc.,
conducted the in-house training and external courses attended by Directors & Senior Management. This was
held last December 10, 2015 and December 9, 2014.
The same training provider was commissioned to conduct the seminar, with different speakers and refresher
topics. As ATN Holdings values transparency & accountability, financial reporting pointers & enhancing board
effectiveness were highlighted in the training seminars. Understanding basic concepts in making business
decisions, implement effecting internal controls and the board’s role in risk management process are essential
to meet corporate best practices.
(c) Continuing education programs for directors: Programs and seminars and roundtables attended during the
year.
Name of
Director/Officer
Arsenio T. Ng
Hilario Ng
Santos Cejoco
Renato Taguiam
Paul B. Saria
Eduard O. Jalandoni
Manuel R. Moje
Arturo Magtibay
Chee Chong Cheah

Date of
Training
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015
12/10/2015

Program

Name of Training Institution

Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar

Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices

1

Senior Management refers to the CEO and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the company.
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Bonifacio Choa
Hyland Si

12/10/2015
12/10/2015

Corporate Governance Seminar
Corporate Governance Seminar

Center for Global Best Practices
Center for Global Best Practices

B. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS
1) Discuss briefly the company’s policies on the following business conduct or ethics affecting directors, senior
management and employees:
Business Conduct &
Ethics
(a) Conflict of Interest
(b) Conduct of
Business and Fair
Dealings
(c) Receipt of gifts from
third parties
(d) Compliance with
Laws & Regulations
(e) Respect for Trade
Secrets/Use of Nonpublic Information

(f) Use of Company
Funds, Assets and
Information

(g) Employment &
Labor Laws &
Policies

Directors

Senior Management

Employees

Do not vote on activities
in which there is conflict
of interest

Are not allowed to be
involved in the decision
making process if conflict
of interest is present
Regulated through
Corporate Governance
Manual
No formal company policy

Are not allowed to be
involved in decision
making process if conflict
of interest is present
Regulated through
Corporate Governance
Manual
No formal company policy

Carefully monitored by
the compliance officer,
management and officers
Discouraged from
disseminating such kind
of non-public information
There is no cash or noncash compensation to be
distributed with respect
to stock options, warrants
or rights or any other
extra consideration.

Carefully monitored by
the compliance officer,
management and officers
Discouraged from
disseminating such kind
of non-public information
Regulated through
Corporate Governance
Manual

Regulated through
Corporate Governance
Manual
No formal company policy
Carefully monitored by
the compliance officer,
management and officers
Discouraged from
disseminating such kind
of non-public information
There is no cash or noncash compensation to be
distributed with respect
to stock options, warrants
or rights or any other
extra consideration. The
members of the board are
entitled to receive a
reasonable per diem of
Php5,000 for attendance
at each meeting of the
Board of Directors
The CEO and Directors
received no compensation
from the Company
whatsoever for the last
five completed fiscal
years and the ensuing
fiscal year.
Meets minimum criteria
set by labor authorities.

The Corporation has not
entered into any
compensatory plan or
arrangement with any
named executive officer
which would entitle such
named executive officer
to receive any amount
under such plan or
arrangement as a result
of or which will result
from the resignation,
retirement, or any other
termination of such
executive officer’s
employment with the
Corporation and its
subsidiaries, or from a
change-in-control of the
Corporation, or a change
in the executive officer’s

An employment contract
between the corporation
and a named executive
officer will normally
include a compensation
package, duties and
responsibilities, and term
of employment.
Meets minimum criteria
set by labor authorities.
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(h) Disciplinary action
(i) Whistle Blower
(j) Conflict Resolution

This is based on
Corporate Governance
Manual
No formal company policy
No formal company policy

responsibilities following
a change-in-control of the
Corporation.
Meets minimum criteria
set by labor authorities.
This is based on Corporate
Governance Manual

This is based on Corporate
Code of Conduct

No formal company policy
No formal company policy

No formal company policy
No formal company policy

2) Has the code of ethics or conduct been disseminated to all directors, senior management and employees?
Yes, the directors, senior management and employees are aware of the company’s code of ethics.
3) Discuss how the company implements and monitors compliance with the code of ethics or conduct.
Any breach or violation in Company’s code of ethics is penalized on a case to case basis.
4) Related Party Transactions
(a) Policies and Procedures
Describe the company’s policies and procedures for the review, approval or ratification, monitoring and
recording of related party transactions between and among the company and its parent, joint ventures,
subsidiaries, associates, affiliates, substantial stockholders, officers and directors, including their spouses,
children and dependent siblings and parents and of interlocking director relationships of members of the
Board.
Related Party Transactions
(1) Parent Company
(2) Joint Ventures
(3) Subsidiaries
(4) Entities Under Common Control
(5) Substantial Stockholders

(6) Officers including
spouse/children/siblings/parents
(7) Directors including
spouse/children/siblings/parents
(8) Interlocking director relationship
of Board of Directors

Policies and Procedures
All related party transactions are decided upon
independently and on arms length
All related party transactions are decided upon
independently and on arms length
All related party transactions are decided upon
independently and on arms length
All related party transactions are decided upon
independently and on arms length
Every owner of duly paid stock of the corporation shall be
entitled to a certificate of stock certifying the number of
shares owned by him. It shall be signed by the President, or in
his absence by the Executive Vice President and General
Manager, and countersigned by the Secretary. The stock and
transfer book shall be kept open during each business day for
the inspection of any stockholder of the corporation.
No such party transaction occurring
No such party transaction occurring
Field of expertise has to be evident & properly established

(b) Conflict of Interest
(i) Directors/Officers and 5% or more Shareholders
Identify any actual or probable conflict of interest to which directors/officers/5% or more shareholders
may be involved.
Details of Conflict
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Name of Director/s- Arsenio T. Ng
Name of Significant Shareholders

of Interest (Actual or Probable)
Shareholder in company from which the
company leases office space and land
N/A

(ii) Mechanism
Describe the mechanism laid down to detect, determine and resolve any possible conflict of interest
between the company and/or its group and their directors, officers and significant shareholders.
Directors/Officers/Significant Shareholders
No formal mechanism established
No formal mechanism established

Company
Group

5) Family, Commercial and Contractual Relations
(a) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a family, 2 commercial, contractual or business nature that exists
between the holders of significant equity (5% or more), to the extent that they are known to the company:
Names of Related
Significant Shareholders

Type of Relationship
No such relationship exists

Brief Description of the
Relationship

(b) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a commercial, contractual or business nature that exists between the
holders of significant equity (5% or more) and the company:
Names of Related
Significant Shareholders

Type of Relationship

Brief Description

No such relationship exists

(c) Indicate any shareholder agreements that may impact on the control, ownership and strategic direction of
the company:
Name of Shareholders

% of Capital Stock affected
(Parties)

Brief Description of the
Transaction

No such shareholder agreement may impact on the control, ownership & strategic direction of the
company.
6) Alternative Dispute Resolution
Describe the alternative dispute resolution system adopted by the company for the last three (3) years in amicably
settling conflicts or differences between the corporation and its stockholders, and the corporation and third
parties, including regulatory authorities.

Corporation & Stockholders
Corporation & Third Parties
Corporation & Regulatory Authorities

Alternative Dispute Resolution System
Compromise Settlement with shareholder Chi Ho Co,
SEC/Court supervised
None established
With SEC on the delay of postponement of annual meeting

C. BOARD MEETINGS & ATTENDANCE
1) Are Board of Directors’ meetings scheduled before or at the beginning of the year?
The Board of Directors shall hold regular monthly meetings, at such time and place as the Board of Directors may
prescribe and as deemed needed. Special meeting of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or by
2

Family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity.
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written request of two Directors. Notices of all regular and special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be mailed to
each Director at his last known post office address, or delivered to him personally, or left at his office, or transmitted by
telegraph or telephone at least two days previous to the date fixed for the meeting.
There is no pre-scheduling of Board of Directors’ meetings at the beginning of the year.
2) Attendance of Directors

Board
Chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Independent
Independent
Independent
Member
Member

Name

Date of
Election

Arsenio T. Ng
Hilario T. Ng
Paul B. Saria
Arturo V. Magtibay
Jose V. Romero
Yu Ting Guan
Santos Cejoco
Manuel R. Moje
Chee Chong Cheah
Hyland Si
Bonifacio Choa
Eduard O. Jalandoni
Renato Taguiam

Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2014
Nov. 2015
Nov. 2015

No. of
Meetings
Held during
the year
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
1
1

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

5
5
5
4
4
4
5
5
5
5
5
1
1

100%
100%
100%
80%
80%
80%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

3) Do non-executive directors have a separate meeting during the year without the presence of any executive?
If yes, how many times?
No, non-executive directors do not hold separate meetings during the year without the presence of executives.
4) Is the minimum quorum requirement for Board decisions set at two-thirds of board members? Please explain.
The directors shall act only as a Board and the individual directors shall have no power as such. A majority of the
entire membership of the Board at a meeting duly assembled shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business and act as a majority of a quorum present shall be valid as a corporate act. In compliance
with the Company’s By Laws, a majority of the number of directors constitute the minimum quorum of 2/3.
5) Access to Information
(a) How many days in advance are board papers 3 for board of directors meetings provided to the board?
This is provided at least a week before the board of directors meeting.
(b) Do board members have independent access to Management and the Corporate Secretary?
The Secretary shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to him by the Board of Directors or the
President from time to time. Board members may personally contact the Corporate Secretary via telephone,
mobile, facsimile and email.
(c) State the policy of the role of the company secretary. Does such role include assisting the Chairman in
preparing the board agenda, facilitating training of directors, keeping directors updated regarding any
relevant statutory and regulatory changes, etc?
The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the stockholders, the Board of Directors and/or committees, in a book
or books kept for that purpose and shall furnish a copy of all minutes to President of the Corporation. He shall
3

Board papers consist of complete and adequate information about the matters to be taken in the board meeting.
Information includes the background or explanation on matters brought before the Board, disclosures, budgets,
forecasts and internal financial documents.
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keep in safe custody the seal of the company, and when authorize by the board of Directors, shall affix such
seal to any instrument requiring the same. The Corporate seal of the Corporation so affixed shall always be
attested by the signature of the Secretary. The Secretary shall have charge of blank Stock Certificate and such
other papers and books as the Board of Directors may direct. He shall attend to the giving and serving of all
notices to stockholders and to directors.
Yes, the secretary is undertaking all the roles aforementioned above, with sufficient knowledge and training in
legal accountancy or company secretarial practices.
(d) Is the company secretary trained in legal, accountancy or company secretarial practices? Please explain
should the answer be in the negative.
Yes, the company secretary is a lawyer. He has more than sufficient knowledge and training in legal
accountancy or company secretarial practices.
(e) Committee Procedures
Disclose whether there is a procedure that Directors can avail of to enable them to get information necessary
to be able to prepare in advance for the meetings of different committees:
Yes

x

No

Committee

Details of the procedures
Readily available
Management provides copies of presentation for review
Management provides copies of presentation for review
Management provides copies of presentation for review
No other committee

Executive
Audit
Nomination
Remuneration
Others (specify)
6) External Advice

Indicate whether or not a procedure exists whereby directors can receive external advice and, if so, provide
details:
Procedures

Details

No formal procedure but directors can ask for
external advice

External advice has not been requested in the
past.

7) Change/s in existing policies
Indicate, if applicable, any change/s introduced by the Board of Directors (during its most recent term) on
existing policies that may have an effect on the business of the company and the reason/s for the change:
Existing Policies

Changes

Reason

"RESOLVE, as it is hereby
resolved, that ATN Holdings, Inc.
(the
"Corporation")
be
authorized to increase its
authorized capital stock from
One Billion Two Hundred Million
Pesos
(P1,200,000,000.00)
divided into One Billion Two
Hundred Million (1,200,000,000)
shares of common stock with a
par value of Philippine Pesos:
one (P1.00), to One Billion Six
Hundred Fifty Million Pesos

"RESOLVE, as it is hereby resolved, that ATN
Holdings, Inc. (the "Corporation") be authorized
to convert its unissued Common Class A Shares
and Common Class B Shares into Preferred
Shares amending the authorized capital stock of
the Corporation in the amount of One Billion Two
Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00) shall be
divided as follows:

Raise additional funds for
the 30MW Solar PV
project of ATN Phil. Solar
Group, Inc.

SEVENTH: That the authorized capital stock of
said corporation is Philippine Pesos: One Billion
Two Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00),
consisting of Four Billion Two Hundred Million
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(P1,650,000,000.00) divided into
Sixteen Billion Five Hundred
Million (16,500,000,000) shares
of common stock with a par
value of ten centavos (P0.10);

(4,200,000,000) Common Class “A” Shares with
par value of Philippine Pesos: ten centavos
(P0.10) per share, Two Billion Eight Hundred
Million (2,800,000,000) Common Class “B”
Shares with par value of Philippine Pesos: ten
centavos (P0.10) per share, and Five Billion
(5,000,000,000) Preferred Shares with a par
value of Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10)
per share.

D. REMUNERATION MATTERS
1) Remuneration Process
Disclose the process used for determining the remuneration of the CEO and the four (4) most highly compensated
management officers:
Process
(1) Fixed remuneration
(2) Variable remuneration
(3) Per diem allowance

N/A

Top 4 Highest Paid Management
Officers
Based on industry standards
N/A
Entitled to receive a reasonable
per diem of Php5,000 for
attendance at each meeting of
the Board of Directors
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

CEO
Based on industry standards
N/A
Entitled to receive a reasonable per
diem of Php5,000 for attendance at
each meeting of the Board of Directors

(4) Bonus
(5) Stock Options and
other financial instruments
(6) Others (specify)

2) Remuneration Policy and Structure for Executive and Non-Executive Directors
Disclose the company’s policy on remuneration and the structure of its compensation package. Explain how the
compensation of Executive and Non-Executive Directors is calculated.
Remuneration
Policy
Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors

Fixed
Per Legal
Requirement

Structure of
Compensation
Packages
Fixed
Per Legal
Requirement

How Compensation is
Calculated
Fixed
Fixed

Do stockholders have the opportunity to approve the decision on total remuneration (fees, allowances, benefitsin-kind and other emoluments) of board of directors? Provide details for the last three (3) years.
Remuneration Scheme
Fixed reasonable per diem of Php5,000 for attendance
at each meeting of the Board Of Directors
Fixed reasonable per diem of Php5,000 for attendance
at each meeting of the Board Of Directors
Fixed reasonable per diem of Php5,000 for attendance
at each meeting of the Board Of Directors

Date of
Stockholders’ Approval
November 12, 2015
November 13, 2014
November 21, 2013

3) Aggregate Remuneration
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Complete the following table on the aggregate remuneration accrued during the most recent year:
Non-Executive
Independent
Remuneration Item
Executive Directors
Directors (other than
Directors
independent directors)
(a) Fixed Remuneration
N/A
N/A
N/A
(b) Variable Remuneration
N/A
N/A
N/A
Php 5,000/
Php 5,000/
Php 5,000/
(c) Per diem Allowance
attendance of Board attendance of Board of
attendance of Board
of Directors meeting
Directors meeting
of Directors meeting
(d) Bonuses
N/A
N/A
N/A
(e) Stock Options and/or other
N/A
N/A
N/A
financial instruments
(f) Others (Specify)
N/A
N/A
N/A
Php 5,000/
Php 5,000/ attendance
Php 5,000/
Total
attendance of Board
of Board of Directors
attendance of Board
of Directors meeting
meeting
of Directors meeting

Executive Directors

Non-Executive
Director (other than
independent
directors)

Independent
Directors

1) Advances

N/A

N/A

N/A

2) Credit granted

N/A

N/A

N/A

3) Pension Plan Contributions

N/A

N/A

N/A

(d) Pension Plans, Obligations
incurred

N/A

N/A

N/A

(e) Life Insurance Premium

N/A

N/A

N/A

(f) Hospitalization Plan

N/A

N/A

N/A

(g) Car Plan

N/A

N/A

N/A

(h) Others (Specify)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other Benefits

Total
4) Stock Rights, Options and Warrants
(a) Board of Directors

Complete the following table, on the members of the company’s Board of Directors who own or are entitled
to stock rights, options or warrants over the company’s shares:
Number of
Number of Direct
Number of
Indirect
Total % from
Director’s Name
Option/Rights/
Equivalent
Option/Rights/
Capital Stock
Warrants
Shares
Warrants
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
(b) Amendments of Incentive Programs
Indicate any amendments and discontinuation of any incentive programs introduced, including the criteria
used in the creation of the program. Disclose whether these are subject to approval during the Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting:
Incentive Program
Amendments
Date of
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Stockholders’ Approval
No Amendments Made
5) Remuneration of Management
Identify the five (5) members of management who are not at the same time executive directors and indicate the
total remuneration received during the financial year:
Name of Officer/Position
Total Remuneration
No Amendments Made

E. BOARD COMMITTEES
1) Number of Members, Functions and Responsibilities
Provide details on the number of members of each committee, its functions, key responsibilities and the
power/authority delegated to it by the Board:
No. of Members
NonIndepen
executive
dent
Director
Director
(NED)
(ID)

Committee
Charter

Functions

N/A

Overall
management of
the Company

Overall
management of
the Company

1

Develop a
transparent
financial mgt.
system through a
step-by-step
procedures &
policies handbook
that will be used
by the company.

Evaluate &
improve the
effectiveness of
corporate
governance, risk
mgt., internal
control processes
of the
organization

1

Future
expansionary
projects within
the realm of good
corp. governance

Pre-screen and
shortlist qualified
candidates

Define roles, duties
and responsibilities

Establish a formal
& transparent
procedure for
developing a
policy on exec.
remuneration

Provide keen
oversight over
remuneration of
senior mgt & other
key personnel

N/A

N/A

Executive
Director
(ED)

Committee

Executive

N/A

Audit

N/A

0

Nomination

2

1

1

Remuneration

1

1

1

Compensation is
consistent with
the Corp’s
culture, strategy
and control
environment.

Others (specify)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Key
Responsibilities
Overall
management of the
Company
Cross check all
financial reports
against its
compliance with
both internal
fin. mgt. handbook
and pertinent
accounting
standards inc.
regulatory
requirements.

Power
Overall
management of
the Company

Perform direct
interface
functions with
the internal and
external
auditors

Evaluate
whether
candidates
possess good
qualifications
Designate
amount of
remuneration,
which will
attract and
retain needed
directors
N/A

2) Committee Members
(a)

Nomination Committee

Nomination Committee from Jan 2015 – Jan 2016
Office
Chairman
Member (ID)
Member

Name
Arsenio T. Ng
Hyland Si
Santos Cejoco

Date of
Appointment

No. of
Meetings
Held

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

Nov. 12, 2015
Nov. 12, 2015
Nov. 12, 2015

1
1
1

1
1
1

100
100
100

Length of
Service in
the
Committee
10
10
10
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(b) Audit Committee
Audit Committee from Jan 2015 – Jan 2016
Name

Date of
Appointment

No. of
Meetings
Held

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

Hyland Si
Santos Cejoco
Hilario Ng

Nov. 12, 2015
Nov. 12, 2015
Nov. 12, 2015

2
2
2

2
2
2

100
100
100

Office
Chairman (ID)
Member (ED)
Member (ED)

Length of
Service in
the
Committee
10
10
10

Disclose the profile or qualifications of the Audit Committee members.
HYLAND SI - Independent Director, Age 57, Filipino, Period Served - 1995 to present, Term of office as director
- one year, Engineer Hyland Si is the Executive Vice President of Torque Builders, Inc., a major supplier &
contractor of local electrical construction works for dozens of high-rise office buildings & manufacturing plants
SANTOS L. CEJOCO – Director, Age 62, Filipino Citizen, Period Served - 2002 to present, Term of office as
director - one year, Formerly Vice President for Corporate Services, a Division of Philippine Associated Smelting
and Refining Corporation and Project Manager in National Development Company. He finished his Master in
Business Management at the Asian Institute of Management.
HILARIO NG – Director, Age 54, Filipino Citizen, Period Served - 1995 to present, Term of office as director one year. Architect Hilario Ng is the President of his own architectural firm, Palladian International, Inc. A
member of both the Philippine & American architectural boards, Mr. Ng placed third overall in the Philippine
architectural board exams. He has twenty (20) years of experience in his chosen field, garnering several US
design awards. His major projects center on design of shopping malls for the GAISANO & UNIWIDE Group.
Describe the Audit Committee’s responsibility relative to the external auditor.
The Audit Committee’s responsibility is to pre-approve all audit plans, scope and frequency one month before
the conduct of external audit. Furthermore, the audit committee is to perform direct interface functions with
the internal and external auditors.
(c) Remuneration Committee
Remuneration Committee from Jan 2015 – Jan 2016
Office
Chairman
Member (ID)
Member

(d)

Name

Date of
Appointment

No. of
Meetings
Held

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

Arsenio T. Ng
Bonifacio Choa
Paul B. Saria

Nov. 12, 2015
Nov. 12, 2015
Nov. 12, 2015

1
1
1

1
1
1

100
100
100

Length of
Service in
the
Committee
10
10
10

Others (Specify)
There is No other committee to take into account.
Provide the same information on all other committees constituted by the Board of Directors:
Office

Name

Date of
Appointment

Chairman
Member (ED)
Member (NED)
Member (ID)
Member

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

No. of Meetings
Held

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

Length of
Service in
the
Committee

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
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3) Changes in Committee Members
Indicate any changes in committee membership that occurred during the year and the reason for the changes:
Name of Committee
Executive
Audit
Nomination
Remuneration
Others (specify)

Name

Reason

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

4) Work Done and Issues Addressed
Describe the work done by each committee and the significant issues addressed during the year.
Name of Committee
Executive

Audit

Nomination
Remuneration
Others (specify)

Work Done
Overall management of the
Company
Audit Committee selects and
recommends to the Board and
stockholders the appointment of the
External Auditor and fixing of the
audit fees.
Considered antecedents of people
nominated for the positions
Deliberated based on industry
remuneration standards
N/A

Issues Addressed
Overall management of the
Company
Internal control issues amongst the
company’s subsidiaries were taken
into account and monitored
Nominate competent members only
Offer benefits to retain and attract
competent and valuable employees
N/A

5) Committee Program
Provide a list of programs that each committee plans to undertake to address relevant issues in the improvement
or enforcement of effective governance for the coming year.
Name of Committee
Executive
Audit
Nomination
Remuneration
Others (specify)

Planned Programs

Issues to be Addressed

Improve overall management of
the Company
Updates on operations and
activities
Evaluate qualifications,
credentials and experiences of
candidates
Establish transparency in
compensation policies
No other committee

Improve security against external
threats
Control structure of subsidiaries
Attract more competent & highlyexperienced Board Members
Monitor industry base standards
in compensation
No other committee

F. RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
1) Disclose the following:
(a) Overall risk management philosophy of the company;
Risk management is included in the Audit charter
(b) A statement that the directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system and
commenting on the adequacy thereof;
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The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, credit risk, fair value risk, price
risk, market risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. The company has no formal risk management
program.
The group manages its liquidity profile to: a) ensure that adequate funding is available at all times; b) meet
commitments as they rise without incurring unnecessary costs; c) be able to access funding when needed at
the least possible cost, and d) maintain an adequate time spread of financial maturities.
(c) Period covered by the review;
Year 2015
(d) How often the risk management system is reviewed and the directors’ criteria for assessing its effectiveness;
As needed and directed.
(e) Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not.
Not applicable.
2) Risk Policy
(a) Company
Give a general description of the company’s risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s
covered by the system (ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind
of risk:
Risk Exposure

Risk Management Policy
Objective
Risk management policies are indicated in the Audit Charter

(b) Group
Give a general description of the Group’s risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s covered
by the system (ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind of risk:
Risk Exposure

Risk Management Policy
Objective
Risk management policies are indicated in the Audit Charter

(c) Minority Shareholders
Indicate the principal risk of the exercise of controlling shareholders’ voting power.
Risk to Minority Shareholders
The directors of the corporation shall be elected by plurality vote at the annual meeting of the
stockholders for that year at which a quorum is present. At each election for directors, every
stockholder shall have the right to vote, in person or by proxy, the number of shares owned by him
for as many persons as there are directors to be elected, or to cumulate the votes by giving one
candidate as many votes as the number of such directors multiplied by the number of his share
shall equal, or by distributing such votes at the same principles among any number of candidates.
3) Control System Set Up
(a) Company
Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the
company:
Risk Assessment

Risk Exposure

(Monitoring and Measurement
Process)

Liquidity risk, credit

Risk Management are

Risk Management and Control

(Structures, Procedures, Actions Taken)

The group sets the amount of capital in
proportion to risk. The group manages the
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risk, fair value risk,
price risk, market
risk, foreign
exchange risk,
internal rate risk

indicated in the Audit Charter

capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the group
may adjust the dividends paid to
shareholders or issue new shares.

(b) Group
Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the
company:
Risk Exposure

Risk Assessment

(Monitoring and Measurement Process)

As indicated in the Audit Charter

Risk Management and Control

(Structures, Procedures, Actions Taken)

Audit Committee & External Auditor

(c) Committee
Identify the committee or any other body of corporate governance in charge of laying down and supervising
these control mechanisms, and give details of its functions:
Committee/Unit

Control Mechanism

Audit Committee

Audit Charter

External Auditor

Independent Audit

Details of its Functions
Indicated in the Audit Charter
As prescribed by the SEC and
Philippine accounting rules

G. INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL
1) Internal Control System
Disclose the following information pertaining to the internal control system of the company:
(a) Explain how the internal control system is defined for the company;
The Internal Control System is placed in management to control procedures, safeguard assets and financials to
ensure efficient and effective operation of activities.
(b) A statement that the directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and whether
they consider them effective and adequate;
To ensure adherence to corporate principles and best practices, the Chairman of the Board shall designate a
Compliance Officer who shall hold the position of a Vice President or its equivalent. He shall have direct
reporting responsibilities to the CEO regarding matters directly involved in instilling order and safeguarding
assets and financials from any possible risks.
(c) Period covered by the review;
CY 2015
(d) How often internal controls are reviewed and the directors’ criteria for assessing the effectiveness of the
internal control system; and
As deemed necessary or as required under the Audit Charter
(e) Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not.
Not Applicable
2) Internal Audit
(a) Role, Scope and Internal Audit Function
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Give a general description of the role, scope of internal audit work and other details of the internal audit
function.

Role

Scope

To provide
independent,
objective assurance
and consulting
services designed to
add value and
improve the
organization’s
operations

Evaluation of the
adequacy and
effectiveness of a
company
organization’s
governance, risk
management process,
system of internal
control structure.

Indicate whether
In-house or
Outsource Internal
Audit Function

In-house internal
audit function

Name of Chief
Internal
Auditor/Auditing
Firm
Audit
Committee:
Hyland Sy
Hilario Ng
Santos Cejoco

Reporting
process
The committee
reports directly &
administratively
to the Chairman
and reports
functionally to
the Audit
Committee

(b) Do the appointment and/or removal of the Internal Auditor or the accounting /auditing firm or corporation to
which the internal audit function is outsourced require the approval of the audit committee?
Yes, it requires the approval of the audit committee.
(c) Discuss the internal auditor’s reporting relationship with the audit committee. Does the internal auditor have
direct and unfettered access to the board of directors and the audit committee and to all records, properties
and personnel?
Yes, the internal auditor has direct and unfettered access to the board of directors and the audit committee
and to all records, properties and personnel. A copy of each audit report will be communicated to the audit
committee for proper review. The minimum internal control mechanisms for management’s operational
responsibility shall center on the CEO, being ultimately accountable for the Corporation’s organizational and
procedural controls. The scope and particulars of a system of effective organizational and procedural controls
shall be based on the following factors: the nature and complexity of business and the business culture; the
volume, size and complexity of transactions; the degree of risk; the degree of centralization and delegation of
authority; the extent and effectiveness of information technology; and the extent of regulatory compliance.
(d) Resignation, Re-assignment and Reasons
Disclose any resignation/s or re-assignment of the internal audit staff (including those employed by the thirdparty auditing firm) and the reason/s for them.
Name of Audit Staff

Reason
N/A

(e) Progress against Plans, Issues, Findings and Examination Trends
State the internal audit’s progress against plans, significant issues, significant findings and examination
trends.
Progress Against Plans
Issues 4
Findings 5
Examination Trends

Risk based audit plan
Documentation
Monitoring progress report
Based on year to year results

The relationship among progress, plans, issues and findings should be viewed as an internal control review
cycle which involves the following step-by-step activities:

4
5

“Issues” are compliance matters that arise from adopting different interpretations.
“Findings” are those with concrete basis under the company’s policies and rules.

22

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Preparation of an audit plan inclusive of a timeline and milestones;
Conduct of examination based on the plan;
Evaluation of the progress in the implementation of the plan;
Documentation of issues and findings as a result of the examination;
Determination of the pervasive issues and findings (“examination trends”) based on single year
result and/or year-to-year results;
Conduct of the foregoing procedures on a regular basis.

(f) Audit Control Policies and Procedures
Disclose all internal audit controls, policies and procedures that have been established by the company and
the result of an assessment as to whether the established controls, policies and procedures have been
implemented under the column “Implementation.”
Policies & Procedures

Implementation

Establish the internal audit function as a separate unit in
the company which would be overseen at the Board level
Standard Financial Procedures
Standard Operating Policies

A new Audit Charter has been issued to
augment new rules and regulations
Complied and Implemented
Complied and Implemented

(g) Mechanisms and Safeguards
State the mechanism established by the company to safeguard the independence of the auditors, financial
analysts, investment banks and rating agencies (example, restrictions on trading in the company’s shares and
imposition of internal approval procedures for these transactions, limitation on the non-audit services that an
external auditor may provide to the company):
Auditors
(Internal and External)
External Auditors: R.R.
Tan Associates, CPAs /
Domingo
A.
Daza
(partner) – Audited in
accordance
with
Philippine Standards on
Auditing. Audits were
reported to the Board
of Directors

Internal Audit: Audit
Committee (Hilario Ng,
Santos Cejoco, Hyland
Sy reports to the CEO

Financial Analysts

Investment Banks

Conclusions made by
financial analysts are
not interfered with in
any way. Data or
information requested
by them is provided
upon
review
and
approval of committee
in charge.
Conclusions made by
financial analysts are
not interfered with in
any way. Data or
information requested
by them is provided
upon
review
and
approval of committee
in charge.

Conclusions made by
financial analysts are
not interfered with in
any way. Data or
information requested
by them is provided
upon
review
and
approval of committee
in charge.
Conclusions made by
financial analysts are
not interfered with in
any way. Data or
information requested
by them is provided
upon
review
and
approval of committee
in charge.

Rating Agencies

Company has not hired
any rating agency

Company has not hired
any rating agency

(h) State the officers (preferably the Chairman and the CEO) who will have to attest to the company’s full
compliance with the SEC Code of Corporate Governance. Such confirmation must state that all directors, officers
and employees of the company have been given proper instruction on their respective duties as mandated by
the Code and that internal mechanisms are in place to ensure that compliance.
The document will be signed by the Chief Executive Officer, Compliance Officer, Corporate Information Officer, and
an Independent Director
H. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS
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1) Disclose the company’s policy and activities relative to the following:
Policy
Customers' welfare
Best business practices
Supplier/contractor selection practice
Best business practices
Environmentally friendly value-chain
Best business practices
Community interaction
Best business practices
Transparency in its financial
Anti-corruption programs & procedures
dealings and reports
Transparency in its financial
Safeguarding creditors' rights
dealings and reports

Activities
Follows best business practices
Follows best business practices
Follows best business practices
Follows best business practices
Follows best business practices
Meets financial & other
covenants set by creditors

2) Does the company have a separate corporate responsibility (CR) report/section or sustainability report/section?
There is no separate corporate responsibility report/section
3) Performance-enhancing mechanisms for employee participation.
(a) What are the company’s policy for its employees’ safety, health, and welfare?
Aside from government mandated Philhealth, the company gives access to Managed Care Philippines, Inc. for
health and wellness issues on a case to case basis
(b) Show data relating to health, safety and welfare of its employees.
Aside from government mandated Philhealth, the company gives Access to Managed Care Philippines, Inc. for
health and wellness issues on a case to case basis
(c) State the company’s training and development programmes for its employees. Show the data.
The company hiring policy is to select experienced employees, with certifications and accreditations, as added
advantages. As such, training is normally not required.
(d) State the company’s reward/compensation policy that accounts for the performance of the company beyond
short-term financial measures
Bonus/reward/compensation is given on a case to case basis.
4) What are the company’s procedures for handling complaints by employees concerning illegal (including
corruption) and unethical behaviour? Explain how employees are protected from retaliation.
Illegal and unethical behavior when reported will properly be investigated by legal counsel and acted upon by
the concerned authorities. Necessary sanctions will be imposed if found guilty.
I.

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

1) Ownership Structure
(a)

Holding 5% shareholding or more
Shareholder
Arsenio T. Ng (A)
PCD Nominee Corp. (A)
PCD Nominee Corp. (B)
PCD Nominee Corp. (B)

Number of Shares
2,763,541,260
732,722,730
760,625,730
33,729,000

Percent
74.69%
19.79%
96.31%
2.95%

Beneficial Owner
N/A
Various
Various
Various

2) Does the Annual Report disclose the following:
Key risks

Yes

Corporate objectives

Yes

Financial performance indicators

Yes

Non-financial performance indicators

Yes
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Dividend policy

Yes

Details of whistle-blowing policy

Yes

Biographical details (at least age, qualifications, date of first appointment, relevant experience,
and any other directorships of listed companies) of directors/commissioners

Yes

Training and/or continuing education programme attended by each director/commissioner
Number of board of directors/commissioners meetings held during the year
Attendance details of each director/commissioner in respect of meetings held
Details of remuneration of the CEO and each member of the board of directors/commissioners

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Should the Annual Report not disclose any of the above, please indicate the reason for the non-disclosure.
Other information are also disclosed in Corporate Governance reports and Audit Charter Reports.
3) External Auditor’s fee
Name of auditor

Audit Fee

R.R. Tan & Associates, CPAs

Non-audit Fee

Php 252,000 for 2015 exclusive of
out of pocket expenses and VAT

4) Medium of Communication
List down the mode/s of communication that the company is using for disseminating information.
Philippine Stock Exchange disclosure, SEC Disclosure, Company Website, Newspaper
5) Date of release of audited financial report: July 13, 2015
6) Company Website

http://www.atnholdings.com/
Does the company have a website disclosing up-to-date information about the following?
Business operations

Yes

Financial statements/reports (current and prior years)

Yes

Materials provided in briefings to analysts and media

Yes

Shareholding structure

Yes

Group corporate structure

Yes

Downloadable annual report

Yes

Notice of AGM and/or EGM

Yes

Company's constitution (company's by-laws, memorandum and articles of association)

Yes

Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto.
Other pertinent documents are also accessible thru the Philippine Stock Exchange and Securities and
Exchange Commission website.
7) Disclosure of Related Party Transactions
RPT
Transpacific Broadband
Group, International,
Inc. (TBGI)

Relationship
(January 10, 2002)
Investment Agreement

Nature
ATN being the developer
of Summit One Tower
Building earned the
entire 9th floor as part of

Value
Php 30 million
(9th floor of Summit One
Tower Bldg consisting of
852.62 sqm)

25

its investment
allocation.
ATN & UMI entered into
an investment
agreement to co-invest
and acquire a
controlling block in TBGI

Unipage Management,
Inc. (UMI)

(July 20,2002)
Investment Agreement

Transpacific Broadband
Group,
International,
Inc. (TBGI)
Palladian Land
Development Inc. (PLDI)

(December 28, 2007)
Supplemental
Investment Agreement
(2011)
Advances from
Shareholders

TBGI buys-out the
remaining ATN financial
interest in the 9th Floor
Proposed increase in
authorized capital

ATN Solar

Associate of Parent
Company

On March 17, 2015, the
parent company sold its
4million ATN Solar
shares of stock

Co-investment shall
initially be reflected as
UMI shares in TBGI
where ATN contributed
Php30million which is
equivalent approx. to
35.9million shares.
During Oct & Dec. 2014
and Feb 2015, the
company received a
total of Php43.2million
as partial return of
investment.
Fair Market Value of
Php 20.69 Million for 13
Million TBGI Shares
Infusion of Php 10.9
million primarily
intended to subscribed
for the proposed
increase in authorized
capital of PLDI
4 Million ATN Solar
shares of stock for
Php12million

When RPTs are involved, what processes are in place to address them in the manner that will safeguard the
interest of the company and in particular of its minority shareholders and other stakeholders?
Taken up by the various Committees, Independent Directors and the Board of the Directors, with the Ratification of
the Shareholders during the Annual Stockholders Meeting
J.

RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS

1)

Right to participate effectively in and vote in Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meetings
(a) Quorum
Give details on the quorum required to convene the Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting as set forth in its
By-laws.
Quorum Required (meeting)

50% + 1 share

Quorum Required (resolution)

Min. 2/3 of outstanding capital stock, majority
of capital stock present

(b) System Used to Approve Corporate Acts
Explain the system used to approve corporate acts.
System Used

Sending out of corporate notices; Opportunity for discussion / Q&A

Description

Stockholder may exercise the right of appraisal. Any stockholders who shall
have voted against the proposed corporate action, by making a written
demand on the Company, within 30 days after the date on which the vote
was taken for payment of the fair value of his share; provided, that failure to
make demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal
right. After demanding payment of his shares, the dissenting stockholder
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shall submit the stock certificates representing his shares to the company, for
notation thereon that such shares are dissenting shares. If within 60 days
from the date of proposed corporate action was approved by the
stockholders, the dissenting stockholders and the company cannot agree on
the fair value of the shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three
disinterested persons, one of whom shall be a stockholder, another by the
company and the third by the two thus chosen.
(c) Stockholders’ Rights
List any Stockholders’ Rights concerning Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting that differ from those laid
down in the Corporation Code.
Stockholders’ Rights under
Stockholders’ Rights not in
The Corporation Code
The Corporation Code
No disparity between two codes
Dividends
Declaration Date

Record Date

Payment Date

There was no cash dividend declared for the last three fiscal years and there were no present or future
restrictions that limit the ability to pay dividends on common equity. Stock dividend is planned for the
shareholders once the solar energy project is up and running in 2016. The available free cash in prior
years were used as equity investment for pre-development expenditures of the 30MW solar project.
(d) Stockholders’ Participation
1. State, if any, the measures adopted to promote stockholder participation in the Annual/Special
Stockholders’ Meeting, including the procedure on how stockholders and other parties interested may
communicate directly with the Chairman of the Board, individual directors or board committees. Include
in the discussion the steps the Board has taken to solicit and understand the views of the stockholders as
well as procedures for putting forward proposals at stockholders’ meetings.
Measures Adopted
Time is set aside for the Board to address
questions raised
by investors
and
stockholders in the Stockholders’ Meeting

Communication Procedure
Part of the agenda as disclosed in the Definitive
Information Statement to shareholders

2. State the company policy of asking shareholders to actively participate in corporate decisions regarding:
a. Amendments to the company's constitution
b. Authorization of additional shares
c. Transfer of all or substantially all assets, which in effect results in the sale of the company
Agenda is sent out to shareholders in advance to give them ample time to prepare any inquiries and questions
they have for the Company’s Management to address during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. The
stockholders in said meeting approves and ratifies the minutes of previous annual stockholders’ meeting, the
audited fiscal year March 31, 2015 financial statements and the annual report which was presented by the
president, Mr. Arsenio T. Ng, the appointment of R.R. Tan & Associates, CPAs as external auditor, and ratified
the acts of the Board and the executive officers during the above fiscal year including but not limited to
memberships in (a) remuneration committee (b)audit committee (c) nomination committee.
3. Does the company observe a minimum of 21 business days for giving out of notices to the AGM where
items to be resolved by shareholders are taken up? YES
a.
b.
4.

Date of sending out notices: September 28, 2015
Date of the Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting: November 12, 2015

State, if any, questions and answers during the Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting.
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A question was raised by one of the brokers regarding dividends, of which the company’s officer
responded: “Stock dividend is planned for the shareholders once the solar energy project is up and running
in 2016.”
5.

Result of Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting’s Resolutions

Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation and By-laws of the Corporation:
The Corporation amended its Articles of Incorporation on March 27, 2015 as approved by SEC, to change the
par value of its shares from One Peso (Php1.00) per share to Ten Centavos (Php0.10) per share.
Stockholders’ Ratification: Increase in Authorized Capital Stock and Decrease In Par Value of the
Corporation
"RESOLVE, as it is hereby resolved, that ATN Holdings, Inc. (the "Corporation") be authorized to convert its
unissued Common Class A Shares and Common Class B Shares into Preferred Shares amending the authorized
capital stock of the Corporation in the amount of One Billion Two Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00) shall
be divided as follows:
SEVENTH: That the authorized capital stock of said corporation is Philippine Pesos: One Billion Two
Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00), consisting of Four Billion Two Hundred Million (4,200,000,000)
Common Class “A” Shares with par value of Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10) per share, Two Billion
Eight Hundred Million (2,800,000,000) Common Class “B” Shares with par value of Philippine Pesos: ten
centavos (P0.10) per share, and Five Billion (5,000,000,000) Preferred Shares with a par value of
Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10) per share.
Preferred Shares
The Preferred Shares shall have the following features, rights, and privileges:
a. Its issue value shall be determined by the Board of Directors at the time of the issuance of the shares.
b. The Board of Directors shall declare a dividend rate equivalent to agreed dividend rate formula as
determined by the Board of Directors as of issue date, payable quarterly on each anniversary of the
issue date. The dividend rate will be repriced every 5,7 or 10 years based on basis for repricing of
each relevant anniversary of the issue date.
c. Holders of preferred shares have preference over holders of common stock in the distribution of
corporate assets in the event of dissolution and liquidation of the Corporation and in the payment of
the dividend at the rate specified at the time of issuance.
d. Preferred Shares shall be cumulative
e. Preferred Shares shall be non-participating in any other or further dividends beyond that specifically
payable on the shares.
f. Holders of Preferred Shares shall have no voting rights.
g. Mandatory redemption [5, 7 or 10]th year anniversary from issuance.
h. Supervised Credit.
Date of publishing of the result of the votes taken during the most recent AGM for all resolutions:
November 12, 2015
Resolution

Approving

Dissenting

Abstaining

Unanimous
approval

No dissenting
votes

No
abstentions

Stockholders’ Ratification No 1: "RESOLVE, as it is hereby

resolved, that ATN Holdings, Inc. (the "Corporation") be
authorized to convert its unissued Common Class A Shares
and Common Class B Shares into Preferred Shares
amending the authorized capital stock of the Corporation
in the amount of One Billion Two Hundred Million
(P1,200,000,000.00) shall be divided as follows:
SEVENTH: That the authorized capital stock of said
corporation is Philippine Pesos: One Billion Two
Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00), consisting of
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Four Billion Two Hundred Million (4,200,000,000)
Common Class “A” Shares with par value of
Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10) per share, Two
Billion Eight Hundred Million (2,800,000,000)
Common Class “B” Shares with par value of Philippine
Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10) per share, and Five Billion
(5,000,000,000) Preferred Shares with a par value of
Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10) per share.
Preferred Shares
The Preferred Shares shall have the following
features, rights, and privileges:
i. Its issue value shall be determined by the Board
of Directors at the time of the issuance of the
shares.
j. The Board of Directors shall declare a dividend
rate equivalent to agreed dividend rate formula
as determined by the Board of Directors as of
issue date, payable quarterly on each
anniversary of the issue date. The dividend rate
will be repriced every 5,7 or 10 years based on
basis for repricing of each relevant anniversary
of the issue date.
k. Holders of preferred shares have preference over
holders of common stock in the distribution of
corporate assets in the event of dissolution and
liquidation of the Corporation and in the
payment of the dividend at the rate specified at
the time of issuance.
l. Preferred Shares shall be cumulative
m. Preferred Shares shall be non-participating in
any other or further dividends beyond that
specifically payable on the shares.
n. Holders of Preferred Shares shall have no voting
rights.
o. Mandatory redemption [5, 7 or 10]th year
anniversary from issuance.
p. Supervised Credit.
(e) Modifications
State, if any, the modifications made in the Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting regulations during the most
recent year and the reason for such modification:
Modifications

"RESOLVE, as it is hereby resolved, that ATN Holdings, Inc. (the
"Corporation") be authorized to convert its unissued Common Class A
Shares and Common Class B Shares into Preferred Shares amending the
authorized capital stock of the Corporation in the amount of One Billion
Two Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00) shall be divided as follows:
SEVENTH: That the authorized capital stock of said corporation is
Philippine Pesos: One Billion Two Hundred Million (P1,200,000,000.00),
consisting of Four Billion Two Hundred Million (4,200,000,000) Common
Class “A” Shares with par value of Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10)
per share, Two Billion Eight Hundred Million (2,800,000,000) Common

Reason for Modification

Raise additional funds for the 30MW
Solar PV project of ATN Phil. Solar
Group, Inc.
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Class “B” Shares with par value of Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10)
per share, and Five Billion (5,000,000,000) Preferred Shares with a par
value of Philippine Pesos: ten centavos (P0.10) per share.
Preferred Shares
The Preferred Shares shall have the following features, rights, and
privileges:
q. Its issue value shall be determined by the Board of Directors at the
time of the issuance of the shares.
r. The Board of Directors shall declare a dividend rate equivalent to
agreed dividend rate formula as determined by the Board of
Directors as of issue date, payable quarterly on each anniversary of
the issue date. The dividend rate will be repriced every 5,7 or 10
years based on basis for repricing of each relevant anniversary of
the issue date.
s. Holders of preferred shares have preference over holders of
common stock in the distribution of corporate assets in the event of
dissolution and liquidation of the Corporation and in the payment of
the dividend at the rate specified at the time of issuance.
t. Preferred Shares shall be cumulative
u. Preferred Shares shall be non-participating in any other or further
dividends beyond that specifically payable on the shares.
v. Holders of Preferred Shares shall have no voting rights.
w. Mandatory redemption [5, 7 or 10]th year anniversary from issuance.
x. Supervised Credit.
(f) Stockholders’ Attendance
(i) Details of Attendance in the Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting Held:
Type of
Meeting

Annual

Names of Board
members /
Officers present
Arsenio T. Ng
Hilario Ng
Santos Cejoco
Renato Taguiam
Eduard O.
Jalandoni
Paul B. Saria
Manuel Moje
Arturo Magtibay
CheeChong Cheah
Bonifacio Choa
Hyland Si

Date of
Meeting

Nov. 12, 2015

Voting Procedure (by
poll, show of hands,
etc.)
The manner of counting
the vote shall be viva
voce unless balloting is
demanded by
stockholders
representing at least
10% of the outstanding
capital stock entitled to
vote, in the presence of
the corporate secretary
or the assistant corp.
secretary.

% of SH
Attending
in Person

70%

% of
SH in
Proxy

Total % of SH
attendance

0%

Stockholders
representing
more than
70% of the
issued and
outstanding
shares were
present in
person or by
proxy.

(ii) Does the company appoint an independent party (inspectors) to count and/or validate the votes at the
ASM/SSMs?
Should there be a voting by ballot, the Corporate Secretary preside on the counting of votes.
(iii) Do the company’s common shares carry one vote for one share? If not, disclose and give reasons for any
divergence to this standard. Where the company has more than one class of shares, describe the voting
rights attached to each class of shares.
One Share carries One Vote. The directors of the corporation shall be elected by plurality vote at the
annual meeting of the stockholders for that year at which a quorum is present. At each election for
directors, every stockholder shall have the right to vote, in person or by proxy, the number of shares
owned by him for as many persons as there are directors to be elected, or to cumulate the votes by giving
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one candidate as many votes as the number of such directors multiplied by the number of his share shall
equal, or by distributing such votes at the same principles among any number of candidates.
(g) Proxy Voting Policies
State the policies followed by the company regarding proxy voting in the Annual/Special Stockholders’
Meeting.
Company’s Policies
Execution and acceptance of proxies

Shareholders are requested in the Definitive Information
statement to not send proxies during the meeting. “WE ARE
NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND YOU ARE REQUESTED
NOT TO SEND US A PROXY.

Notary

Any proxies will have to be notarized.

Submission of Proxy

The instrument authorizing a proxy to act shall be exhibited
to the Secretary 48 hours before the meeting. Proxy shall
have been appointed in writing by the stockholder himself, or
by his duly authorized attorney. Proxies should be submitted
in accordance with SEC Rules

Several Proxies

# of proxies should correspond with shares owned

Validity of Proxy

Proxies only valid until meeting date unless revoked in writing

Proxies executed abroad

Proxies only valid until meeting date unless revoked in writing

Invalidated Proxy

Notices are issued to invalidated proxies

Validation of Proxy

Corporate secretary validates proxies based on shares owned

Violation of Proxy

Notices are issued to invalidated proxies

(h) Sending of Notices
State the company’s policies and procedure on the sending of notices of Annual/Special Stockholders’
Meeting.
Policies

Procedure

Notice of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting was posted
on September 28, 2015. The Information Statement
is distributed to stockholders of record as of October
15, 2015, in compliance with the requirements of
Section 17.1- (b) of the Securities Regulation Code

Liaison officer sends notice thru registered mail

(i) Definitive Information Statements and Management Report
Number of Stockholders entitled to receive Definitive
Information Statements and Management Report and
Other Materials
Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive Information
Statement and Management Report and Other Materials
held by market participants/certain beneficial owners
Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive Information
Statement and Management Report and Other Materials
held by stockholders

All are entitled to receive Definitive
Information Statements and other
materials

State whether CD format or hard copies were distributed

Hard Copies

If yes, indicate whether requesting stockholders were
provided hard copies

Yes

At least 21 days prior to the Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting
At least 21 days prior to the Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting

(j) Does the Notice of Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting include the following:
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Each resolution to be taken up deals with only one item.

Yes

Profiles of directors (at least age, qualification, date of first appointment, experience,
and directorships in other listed companies) nominated for election/re-election.

Yes

The auditors to be appointed or re-appointed.

Yes

An explanation of the dividend policy, if any dividend is to be declared.

Yes

The amount payable for final dividends.

Yes

Documents required for proxy vote.

Yes

Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto.
2) Treatment of Minority Stockholders

(a) State the company’s policies with respect to the treatment of minority stockholders.
Policies
Minority stockholders are allowed to nominate
candidates for board of directors.
Equal treatment of shareholders holding the same
class of shares

Implementation
Nomination period closes on March 31, 20xx
One share, one vote

(b) Do minority stockholders have a right to nominate candidates for board of directors?
Yes.

K. INVESTORS RELATIONS PROGRAM
1) Discuss the company’s external and internal communications policies and how frequently they are reviewed.
Disclose who reviews and approves major company announcements. Identify the committee with this
responsibility, if it has been assigned to a committee.
a) Only officers are allowed to make external communications.
b) Communications by non-officers are reviewed before sending to external parties.
The CEO makes the final approval of communications to external parties
2) Describe the company’s investor relations program including its communications strategy to promote effective
communication with its stockholders, other stakeholders and the public in general. Disclose the contact details
(e.g. telephone, fax and email) of the officer responsible for investor relations.
Details
(1) Objectives
Timely disclosure of material information
(2) Principles
Enable investors to make investment decisions
(3) Modes of Communications
Pertinent information disclosed at company website and SEC website
(4) Investors Relations Officer
Mr. Paul B. Saria
3) What are the company’s rules and procedures governing the acquisition of corporate control in the capital
markets, and extraordinary transactions such as mergers, and sales of substantial portions of corporate assets?
The Company address these issues on a case to case basis, subject to 2/3 shareholder ratification. Major decisions
are to be approved by Company Management, Board of Directors, Committees.
Name of the independent party the board of directors of the company appointed to evaluate the fairness of the
transaction price.
R.R. Tan & Associates, CPAs
L.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES
Discuss any initiative undertaken or proposed to be undertaken by the company.
Initiative
Beneficiary
Medical missions; Operation Smile
Indigent patients in Rodriguez Rizal
Tie Up with VRP Medical for Blood Warrior Donation
Donating Blood & Help Save More Lives Campaign
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